A REVIEW OF LITERATURES

P.A. Hancock J.L. Szalma Department of Psychology University of Central Florida

M. van Driel Graduate Research Fellow, DEOMI



DEFENSE EQUAL OPPORTUNITY MANAGEMENT INSTITUTE

DIRECTORATE OF RESEARCH

Submitted to Dr. Daniel P. McDonald, Director of Research Winter 2007

DEOMI Internal Report CCC-07-1

Report Documentation Page				Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188		
Public reporting burden for the collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to a penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently valid OMB control number.						
1. REPORT DATE 2007		2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED 00-00-2007 to 00-00-2007	
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE				5a. CONTRACT NUMBER		
A Review of Literatures				5b. GRANT NUMBER		
				5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHOR(S)				5d. PROJECT NUMBER		
				5e. TASK NUMBER		
				5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER		
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) University of Central Florida,Institute of Simulation and Training,4000 Central Florida Blvd,Orlando,FL,32816				8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER		
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)				10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
				11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)		
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMENT Approved for public release; distribution unlimited						
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES						
14. ABSTRACT						
15. SUBJECT TERMS						
16. SECURITY CLASSIFIC	17. LIMITATION OF	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF			
a. REPORT unclassified	b. ABSTRACT unclassified	c. THIS PAGE unclassified	ABSTRACT Same as Report (SAR)	OF PAGES 119	RESPONSIBLE PERSON	

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std Z39-18

A REVIEW OF LITERATURES

P.A. Hancock , J.L. Szalma

University of Central Florida

and

M. van Driel

Florida Institute of Technology

A Review of Pertinent Literatures for the DEOMI Program on Cultural Readiness for the Military Forces.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments

- 1. THE MILITARY MANDATE FOR CULTURAL READINESS
- 2. INTRODUCTION TO THE LITERATURES
- 3. LITERATURE TERMS, SURVEY, AND ORGANIZATION
- 4. CULTURE AND TIME
- 5. CULTURE AND DECISION-MAKING
- 6. CULTURE AND CONFLICT
- 7. CULTURE, RISK AND RISK-TAKING
- 8. THE EXPERIENCES OF EX-PATRIOTS
- 9. CULTURAL COMPETENCE
- 10. Cultural Intelligence
- 11. Cultural Frameworks
- 12. GENERAL AND CROSS-CULTURAL REFERENCES
- 13. **RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH**

Acknowledgements

The assimilation and creation of this overall literature review, within the time available, being some two months in total length, would not have been possible without the cooperation and work of several individuals. First and foremost we must tender our grateful thanks to Dr. Gary McGuire. Without his generous sharing of his previous detailed efforts we could not have gotten anywhere near the present state of progress. We are most grateful for his kindness and courtesy. In respect of the extensive work on culture and time, we are directly indebted to Professor Rick Block who was also kind enough to share his extensive resources in this area. It is an issue of which we here recommend further pursuit. In terms of allied search personnel we are also grateful to Mrs. Melissa Szalma and Ms. Gabriella Hancock who performed a number of the major searches involved in this report. As we progress on this work, we should directly acknowledge that this collective project is a team effort that involves multiple individuals from DEOMI, DLO, and beyond. However, we are particularly grateful to our local colleagues who make this overall effort possible. Principal among these is Dr. Dan McDonald who is the inspiration behind the whole effort and similarly we acknowledge the efforts of Mr. Jerry Scarpate, also of DEOMI. The organizational efforts of LTC Don Farnsworth are especially appreciated as are the contributions of Mr. Mark Dallaire through HRT Inc. Without these collective contributions, the current effort to support our military personnel and their critical need for cultural readiness could not be realized.

1. The Military Mandate for Cultural Readiness

"The best forms of war are the ones one does not have to fight or the ones that are already won."

Wars between nations, between peoples and between cultures signify the breakdown in an understanding of the critical importance of species unity. Under the pressure of evolution and the vagaries of environmental forces, species cannot afford the luxury of self-destruction when so many external threats persist. Thus war in the form that we have come to understand it in modern times is an unaffordable luxury that has evolved from its original, parochial form of conflict into a global maladaptation. It remains a social expression of the will to power and is only possible when the kinship identification with some restricted section of humanity overcomes the allegiance to the species in general. This is almost ubiquitous in a pre-information world in which local group identification was reinforced by the limited spatio-temporal extent of any groups' experience, together with the understandable adherence to family and kin tradition. Information, experience, and wider exposure to other peoples and their traditions and experiences should act to weaken these local bonds. It is our general aspiration and expectation that advanced education also dissipates this limitation on kinship constraint, at least to some degree. Sadly, although this itself is a culturally-bound aspiration, the expectation itself has not been ubiquitously fulfilled (Hancock, 2003). Exposure to, and education about other cultures does not always result in a positive apperception of those cultures. It is a central issue with which the present program must grapple.

Conflicts, such as the ones in which we in the United States are currently engaged in, are evidence of this state of development of human understanding and integration. The present conflicts result from complex interplay of modern technological innovation and traditional values and mores which vary considerably across differing cultures (see Barber, 1992, 1995; Friedman, 1999).Fundamentally, they derive from the overlaid edges of a palimpsest which connotes our collective human cultural advances. Regions of conflict can well be analogized to areas of non-linear turbulence at the boundary layers between peoples, whom for differing reasons, consider themselves as separate.

As a result, forces from a modern western society which command the latest and dominant technological weapons find themselves now fighting an elusive and frustrating enemy who employ dimensions of conflict for which kinetic force has never been constructed to oppose (and see Chiarelli & Smith, 2007). This is also a moral as well as pragmatic challenge since we must ask not simply how to win but what actually connotes victory itself in such circumstances? In former times, victory in battle was reasonably clear cut. In modern, culture-bound strife what connotes defeat or victory are not self-acclamations but rather a more complex resolution of differences. To that end, our military personnel very certainly need to know much more about cultures and how to prepare for these challenges. Among these cultural imperatives is most certainly the necessity to understand and evaluate our own cultural biases for the actions which we individually and collective undertake. We need to be very clear about how such intrinsic cultural biases frame our own efforts in programs such as the present one. In what follows we present a living document which is aimed at an on-going review the relevant scientific literatures in the areas of culture, attitude, perception, decisionmaking, risk, and associated regions of understanding. It is from this evergrowing body of information and from our own empirical efforts that we look to derive information to support the program goals we have stated in our allied documentation.

References

Barber, B.R. (1992). Jihad vs. McWorld. The Atlantic Monthly, 269 (3), 53-65.

Barber, B.R. (1995). Jihad vs. McWorld: How the World Is Both Falling Apart and Coming Together-And What This Means for Democracy. Times Books: New York.

Chiarelli, P.W., & Smith, S.M. (2007). Learning from our modern wars: The imperatives of preparing for a dangerous future. *Military Review*, September/October, 2-15.

Friedman, T.L. (1999). The Lexus and the Olive Tree. Anchor Books: New York.

Hancock, P.A. (2003). To see ourselves. Global Linkages, 6 (8), 5.

2. Introduction to the Literatures

As might well be imagined, the literature on culture and cultural influences on human behavior is simply vast. In realistic terms it is overvast, such that an exhaustive review would take more than one lifetime to undertake and more than several lifetimes to read and comprehend. Thus, we must select and filter the various sources of information according to a number of constraints. While these constraints apply to this first effort to comprehend this assemblage of knowledge, it may well be that future elements of the present program will go on to explore those aspects that are here, restricted by necessity. Indeed, this ever-more detailed exploration is an explicit recommendation that we expressly make here. Therefore, in this present work we do not deal with the developmental or maturational aspects of individual people's and the cultures in which they are embedded. That is, we have not included reference materials that relate to children and their attitudes in this realm, although this can certainly be a strong avenue to explore in later phases of the present program. Next, since we are trying to distill nomothetic trends to guide our understanding we have, as far as is feasible, not focused on specific cultures or specific, pair-wise cultural comparisons. As our aim is to elucidate principles that extend across all human cultures we have, as afar as possible, separated this search from specifically focused empirical evaluations of a single culture, or its immediate comparisons with only on other culture. This also is a significant undertaking that will certainly form the material of future effort. Also, we have tried to provide a focus on the more modern research results and have referenced classic sources only as and when appropriate. Primary texts in culture, psychology, attitude testing and performance evaluation contain important précis of this prewar work and we have referenced them as such. Finally, this is a living document. For the lifetime of the whole program, we expect this will be an on-going effort in which the literature foundation will be augmented as

Review of Literature

new materials become available and improved as we have further access to other in-depth sources from the other cultures and research centers that we plan to visit.

3. Literature Search Terms, Survey and Organization

In the following listing, we have focused on the terms and key words which act as our primary filter. The following represent our first pass of this listing. From the general to the more specific, our terms are: i) Culture [cultural], ii) Psychology [psychological], iii) Cultural Psychology, iv) Emotion [emotional intelligence, emotional perception], v) Method(s) [methodologies], vi) Performance (Assessment), vii) Perception [Person Perception, Time Perception], viii) Threat (threat assessment), ix) Decision-Making, x) Attitude, xi) Detection, xii) Time, Duration Perception, xiii) Gender. As a first pass approximation, we expect that the primary dimension of military concern in respect of culture is the issue of readiness and associated performance response. Often, this will center on the issue of threat detection, threat assessment, and threat response. However, these are the proximate concerns and we are looking to explore the deeper dimensions which underlie these forms of crucial military capacity.

We surveyed literature primarily from (But not limited to) the following databases and resources. i) PsychInfo; ii) Psych Abstracts; iii) PsyArticles; iv) Worldcat. We also extracted information using the major search engines of the web, which was extensively queried as to current citations and information sources. We have also requested information from specific subject-matter experts who have been kind enough to provide access to their resources on their own respective areas of expertise. In what follows, we have sought to divide the various literatures that we have surveyed into manageable sized elements. They are arranged according to an order relevant to our overall framework for evaluation as detailed in allied documents and briefly referenced here. There are exceptions to this ordering. First, we have begun with the referenced literature on culture and time. This advantage has been made possible by our direct contacts and collaborations with one of the world leaders in this area. Through collaboration with Dr. Richard Block we have been able to assemble a much larger coverage of the literature than would normally have been possible within the present time framework of just under two months in duration. We intend to use this form of collaboration, which is also exemplified by the association with Dr, McGuire, in order for us to provide extended evaluations of numerous relevant areas of literature. In this present, 'living' document, the section which follows on time and culture represents a level of coverage that we look to endeavor to achieve for each of the other cited areas. At the end of the document, we present a number of recommendations to pursue present areas in much greater, sometimes quantitative detail, as well as other aspects mentioned only briefly here such as culture and deception and the development of enculturation during the process of maturation.

The emerging area of primary interest are those which relate the aspects of cognitive science with which we are familiar, e.g., perception, threat detection, decision-making etc to culture. What has become evident is that even these particular areas of research are diverse and live in different contexts across different research disciplines. One evident example of this is the focus on these respective issues in the business and managerial literature, often focused on international business and negotiation issues. While this links nicely to the econometric models of human decision processes it is much more remote say, from assessments of cultural influences on basic perceptual processes. Thus the battle in seeking to synthesize and integrate the various literatures cited here is the cross-paradigm, cross-discipline questions to say nothing of the problems of the use of discipline-based jargon. Nevertheless, the present work serves as our beginning efforts to achieve this important goal, since subsequent recommendations for specific research objectives and the ability to generate important tools for military cultural readiness are

Review of Literature

founded upon such necessary foundations. Wherever possible we have left active links within the document so that the interested reader can follow that link to the original resource. We look to continue and elaborate this facility as the document grows and evolves further

4. Culture and Time

"time is a core system of all cultures" (Hall, 1983, p. 3).

One of the most interesting and in a variety of ways pivotal of areas which we have investigated to the present involves the way in which diverse cultures perceive time. As with many of the other areas of psychological attribution that we have examined, there are evident and consistent differences in the ways in which differing cultures perceive time. Much of this difference stems from their basic views on cosmology and religion. To refer first to ourselves, it is clear that for the Judeo-Christian based cultures, the unique aspect of Christ's ministry on Earth provided a one time, unrepeatable marker. Indeed, our very method of dating time (e.g., this is the year 2007) comes from this basic fact. This has meant that time is seen as a linear and progressive medium in which we "progress" toward the future. Indeed, much of the idea of progress itself is embedded in this fundamental way of conceiving time. Some would argue that the Jewish faith had this progressive view of time prior to Christ and it is certainly a disputable point. However, what is not in dispute is that the dominant way in which we view time in the world today is founded upon this notion of the uniqueness of temporal events and the consequent diminution of their cyclic character. In this, we share with many other cultures, either because of their intrinsic beliefs founded upon their own unique historical markers (e.g., birth of Mohammed), or because our technological dominance has overwhelmed any intrinsic cultural differences (e.g., the Aboringes of Australia).

However, it should be emphasized that this linear and progressive view of time actually superseded an earlier notion of time as cyclic and repetitive (Gould, 1987). From this earlier cyclic perspective which is based in part on the drivers of agrarian societies, one worshiped deities which mediated fertility. Thus, in our own culture there are vestiges of these earlier beliefs in important recurrences such as spring (rebirth) festivals, as well as harvest festivals. If the general idea of memes is correct (see Blackmore, 1999), although this itself is not without dispute (Frazier, 2000), then one idea can supplant another in the same way that one species can supplant another. In this respect, the linear view of time seems to have supplanted the cyclic view of time at least in our culture. There yet remain important vestiges and prior aspects of non-linear temporal perception, embedded to a greater or lesser degree in differing cultures around the world. Of course, even the use of the term vestigial here is a culturally-bound assessment.

Another dimension of time, which seems to relate much more to individual differences rather than culture per se, is the notion of monochronic versus polychromic time. Very much related to the modern psychological evaluation of multiple task performance, this dimension asks to what degree and individual is comfortable in trying to perform more than one task at literally the same time, or multiple tasks within the same general time frame, e.g., in one day (see Bluedorn, Kaufman, & Lane, 1992). We do not yet have a wealth of data on such individualistic differences as they pertain to the degree of cultural influence as yet. We suggest that this will be in important dimension to examine in progressive work. If it is true that the cultural perception of time underlies much of the nature of the behavior and the assumptions of that culture, then it will be a critical step forward in our overall program to understand these influences. For example, many cultures which use cyclic, monochronic time perspectives may well not even see or understand the world in terms of 'progress' which we take for a fundamental foundational assumption. Thus, the very notion of improvement and betterment themselves, which found the efforts of our troops may be totally anathema to many of the

cultures which they encounter. As such, time perspective will have a direct influence on the efficacy and efficiency of persons so deployed.

In sum, one of the key indicators of any culture is the way that they treat time. As we advance our present efforts, it will be of importance to look to understand these differing reflections of temporal perception. Cultures that are not dominated by the idea of progress often do not tend toward aggressive and dominating actions. In contrast, cultures that believe vehemently in the notion of progress and, it must be said, an eventual goal for that progress, tend to be the ones which currently dominate on our planet. As we now tend toward a global culture and a more trans-national form of organization, it will be important to understand how this impetus for progress and dominance is to be channeled. Thus, the future military member will need to understand and comprehend all of these issues not just in dealing with those who nominally "oppose" but also in understanding their own military culture and its basis and motivations.

Assembled Literature on Culture and Time

Abi-Hashem, N. (2000). Psychology, time, and culture. *American Psychologist*, 55, 342–343.

Agarwal, A. (1993). Time, memory, and knowledge representation: The Indian perspective. In J. Altarriba (Ed.), *Cognition and culture: A cross-cultural approach to psychology* (pp. 45–55). Amsterdam: North-Holland/Elsevier Science.

Agarwal, A., & Tripathi, K.K. (1984). Influence of prolonged deprivation, age and culture on the development of future orientation. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *14*, 451–453.

Agarwal, A., Tripathi, K. K., & Srivastava, M. (1983). Social roots and psychological implications of time perspective. *International Journal of Psychology*, 18, 367–380.

Agranovich, A. (2005). Cross-cultural differences in neuropsychological performance: A comparison between Russian and American samples. In T. Akhutina, J. Glozman, L. Moskovich, and D. Robbins (Eds.), *A R Luria and contemporary psychology: Festschrift celebrating the centennial of the birth of Luria*. Hauppauge, NY: Nova Science.

Alessandri, S.M., & Wozniak, R.H. (1991). The child's awareness of adult beliefs concerning the child: The effects of gender and subculture. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 20, 1–12.

Alon, I., & Brett, J. (2007). Perceptions of time and their impact on Negotiations in the Arabic-Speaking Islamic World. *Negotiation Journal*, 23 (1), 55-73.

Anderson, B., Burd, L., Dodd, J., & Kolkor, K. (1980). A comparative study of estimating time. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 19, 1–4.

Aron, E.N., & Aron, A. (1981). Psychology's progress and the psychologist's personal experience. *Journal of Mind & Behavior*, 2, 397–406.

Awaritefe, A., Carew, T., Obiora, M., & Imade, T. (1989). Anxiety and time perception in Nigerian students. *Journal of African Psychology*, *1*, 63–71.

Bandura, A. (2002). Social cognitive theory in cultural context. Applied Psychology: An International Review, 51(2), 269-290.

Barton, E. (1986). Adolescent views of the contemporary world: An international comparison. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *2*, 45–48.

Barudy, J. (1992). Les differents temps dans la phenomenologie humaine: le temps biologique et le temps culturel. Une approche biosociale du temps a partir des idees proposees par H. Maturana et F. Varela [Different times in human phenomenology: Biological time and cultural time: A biosocial approach to time based on ideas proposed by H. Maturana and F. Varela]. *Therapie Familiale*, *13*, 239–255.

Beachy, A., Hershberger, E., Davidhizar, R., & Giger, J.N. (1997). Cultural implications for nursing care of the Amish. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, *4*, 118–126.

Beidelman, T.O. (1963). Kaguru time reconing: An aspect of the cosmology of an East African people. *Southweswtern Journal of Anthropology*, 19, 9–20.

Beiser, M. (1987). Changing time perspective and mental health among Southeast Asian refugees. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 11, 437–464.

Bell, C.C. (1982). Black intrapsychic survival skills: Alteration of states of consciousness. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 74, 1017–1020.

Benabou, C. (1999). Polychronicity and temporal dimensions of work in learning organizations. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 14, 257–268.

Ben-Baruch, E., Bruno, J.E., & Horn, L.L. (1985). Development of time horizon perceptions in students. *Journal of the Association for the Study of Perception*, 20, 5–16.

Ben-Peretz, M., & Bromme, R. (Eds.). (1990). The nature of time in schools: Theoretical concepts, practitioner perceptions. New York: Teachers College Press.

Bentley, A.M. (1983). Personal and global futurity in Scottish and Swazi students. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 121, 223–229.

Bentley, A.M. (1986). The development of Swazi children's understanding of duration: The influence of speed and distance. *International Journal of Psychology*, 21, 355–361.

Bentley, A.M. (1987). Swazi children's understanding of time concepts: A Piagetian study. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 148, 443–452.

Bergler, E., & Róheim, G. (1946). Psychology of time perception. *Psychoanalytic Quarterly*, 15, 190–206.

Berry, J.W. (1980). Introduction to methodology. In H. C. Triandis and J.W. Berry (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Vol. 2. Methodology* (pp. 1–28). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Bijnen, E.J., & Poortinga, Y.H. (1988). The questionable value of cross-cultural comparisons with the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 19, 193–202.

Binkley, S., Riebman, J.B., & Reilly, K.B. (1977). Timekeeping by the pineal gland. *Science*, 197, 1181–1183.

Birth, K.K. (2004). Finding time: Studying the concepts of time used in daily life. *Field Methods*, *16*, 70–84.

Blackmore, S. (1999). The meme machine. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Blaut, J.M. (1987). Notes toward a theory of mapping behavior. *Children's Environments Quarterly*, 4, 27–34.

Bleichrodt, N., & Drenth, P. J. D. (Eds.). (1991). Contemporary issues in cross-cultural psychology. Lisse, Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger.

Block, R.A. (1993). Factor structure of beliefs about time: Comment on Hill and Stuckey (1992). *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 76, 1009–1010.

Block, R.A. (1994, Time and culture: Important variables and interrelationships. In R. Levine (Chair), *Symposium on time and culture*. Symposium conducted at the meeting of the Western Psychological Association, Kailua-Kona, HI.

Block, R.A. (1998, January). [Review of the book A geography of time: The temporal misadventures of a social psychologist, or how every culture keeps time just a little bit differently]. Time's News, 18–19.

Block, R.A., Buggie, S.E., & Matsui, F. (1996). Beliefs about time: Cross-cultural comparisons. *Journal of Psychology*, 130, 5–22.

Block, R.A., Buggie, S.E., & Richmond, A.S. (2002). Affective meanings of three cultures: Comparisons of American Indians and White Americans. *Manuscript in preparation*,

Bluedorn, A.C., Kaufman, C.F., & Lane, P.M. (1992). How many things do you like to do at once? An introduction to monochromic and polychromic time. *Academy of Management Executive*, 6 (4), 17-26.

Brislin, R. (2000). Understanding culture's influence on behavior. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt.

Brislin, R., & Kim, E. (2003). Cultural diversity in people's understanding and uses of time. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 52 (3), 363-382.

Bluedorn, A.C., & Denhardt, R.B. (1988). Time and organizations. Journal of Management, 14, 299–320.

Bluedorn, A.C., Kalliath, T.J., Strube, M.J., & Martin, G.D. (1999). Polychronicity and the Inventory of Polychronic Values (IPV): The development of an instrument to measure a fundamental dimension of organizational culture. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *14*, 205–230.

Bluedorn, A.C., Kaufman, C.F., & Lane, P.M. (1992). How many things do you like to do at once? An introduction to monochromic and polychromic. *Academy of Management Executive*, 6 (4), 17-26.

Bochner, S., & David, K.H. (1968). Delay of gratification, age and intelligence in an aboriginal culture. *International Journal of Psychology*, *3*, 167–174.

Bohannon, P. (1953). Concepts of time among the Tiv of Nigeria. Southwestern Journal of Anthropology, 19, 9–20.

Bond, M. (Ed.). (1988). The cross-cultural challenge to social psychology. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Bond, R., & Smith, P. B. (1996). Culture and conformity: A meta-analysis of studies using Asch's (1952b, 1956) line judgment task. *Psychological Bulletin*, 119, 111–137.

Bongers, L.S. (1972). A developmental study of time perception and time perspective in three cultural groups: Anglo American, Indian American, and Mexican American (Doctoral dissertation, University of California, Los Angeles). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *32*, 3774A–3775A.

Bouffard, L. (1982). La perspective future chez les Africains [African future perspectives]. *Ethnopsychologie*, 37, 15–31.

Bourdieu, P. (1977). The attitude of the Algerian peasant toward time. In J. P. H. Rivers (Ed.), *Mediterranean countrymen* (p. 55–72). Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.

Bowden, E.A. (1969). Accuracy of time estimation among rural and urban Baganda: A reinterpretation. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 28, 54.

Brannigan, G.G., & Tolor, A. (1971). Sex differences in adaptive styles. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *119*, 143–149.

Bray, D.H. (1971). Maori adolescent temporal values: Distance of goals perceived as important and of delayed gratification, as compared with Pakehas. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, 6, 62–77.

Briod, M. (1989). A phenomenological approach to child development. In R. S. Valle & S. Halling (Eds.), *Existential-phenomenological perspectives in psychology: Exploring the breadth of human experience* (p. 115–126). New York: Plenum Press.

Brislin, R.W. (1980). Translation and content analysis of oral and written materials. In H. C. Triandis & J. W. Berry (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Vol. 2. Methodology* (p. 389–444). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

Brislin, R.W. (1983). Cross-cultural research in psychology. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 34, 363–400.

Brislin, R.W. (1988). Increasing awareness of class, ethnicity, culture, and race by expanding on students' own experiences. In I. S. Cohen (Ed.), *The G. Stanley Hall lecture series, Vol. 8* (p. 137–180). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Brislin, R.W. (1994). Cross-cultural psychology. In R. J. Corsini (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of psychology* (2nd ed., Vol. 1, p. 352–361). New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Brislin, R.W., & Kim, E.S. (2003). Cultural diversity in people's understanding and uses of time. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 52, 363–382.

Brislin, R. W., Lonner, W., & Thorndike, R. (1973). *Cross-cultural research methods*. New York: Wiley.

Broch, H. B. (1985). "Crazy women are performing in Sombali": A possession-trance ritual on Bonerate, Indonesia. *Ethos*, 13, 262–282.

Brockmeier, J. (1998). The time of a life: Models of time in autobiographical narrative. Archivio di Psicologia, Neurologia e Psichiatria, 59, 149–162.

Brown, W. T. (2001). Temporal orientation, ethnic identity, and perceptions of minority status: Examining ethnicity as a multidimensional construct and its relationship with African American high school students' academic engagement and performance. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *61*, 6697B.

Buggie, S. E. (1993). Time urgency in transitional Poland. *Polish Psychological Bulletin*, 24, 167–180.

Buggie, S. E., Block, R. A., & Richmond, A. S. (2003, March). Affective meanings of three cultures: Comparisons of American Indians and White Americans. Paper presented at the meeting of the Research in Indian Education, Albuquerque, NM.

Burd, L., Dodd, J., & Grassl, P. (1981). A comparison of reservation Native American and public school children's time estimation skills. *Child Study Journal*, *11*, 247–252.

Buss, D. M. (1995). Evolutionary psychology: A new paradigm for psychological science. *Psychological Inquiry*, *6*, 1–30.

Byington, M. L. (2001). Bicultural involvement, psychological differentiation, and time perspective as mediators for depression and anxiety in Native Americans living on and off-reservation. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *62*, 1069B.

Calbris, G. (1990). The semiotics of French gestures (O. Doyle, Trans.). Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.

Cameron, P., Desai, K. G., Bahador, D., & Dremel, G. (1978). Temporality across the life-span. International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 8, 229–259.

Capra, F. (1982). The turning point: Science, society, and the rising culture. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Carter, R. T. (1991). Cultural values: A review of empirical research and implications for counseling. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 70, 164–173.

Chandler, T. A., & Spies, C. J. (1996). Semantic differential comparisons of attributions and dimensions among respondents from seven nations. *Psychological Reports*, 79, 747–758.

Cho, B., Kwon, U., Gentry, J. W., Jun, S., & Kropp, F. (1999). Cultural values reflected in theme and execution: A comparative study of U S and Korean television commercials. *Journal of Advertising*, *28*, 59–73.

Christensen, C.P. (1989). Cross-cultural awareness development: A conceptual model. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, 28, 270–289.

Christie, L., & Halpern, J. M. (1990). Temporal constructs and Inuit mental health. *Social Science and Medicine*, 30, 739–749.

Cohen, J.B., Matthews, K.A., & Waldron, I. (1978). Coronary-prone behavior: Developmental and cultural considerations [Section summary]. In T. M. Dembroski, S. M. Weiss, J.L. Shields, S. G. Haynes, & M. Feinleib (Eds.), *Coronary-prone behavior* (p. 184–190). New York: Springer.

Cohen, S. (1982). Cannabis and sex: Multifaceted paradoxes. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 14, 55–58.

Collins, S. L., & Savage, A. L. (1983). Consciousness, order, and social reality: Towards an "historical" integration of the human sciences. *Humboldt Journal of Social Relations*, 11, 86–102.

Condon, W. S. (1982). Cultural microrhythms. In M. Davis (Ed.), *Interaction rhythms: Periodicity in communicative behavior* (p. 53–77). New York: Human Sciences Press.

Connection, T.C.C. (1987). Chinese values and the search for culture-free dimensions of culture. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 18, 143–164.

Connolly, T., & Ordâoänez, L. (2003). Judgment and decision making. In W. C. Borman, D. R. Ilgen, & et al. (Eds.), *Handbook of psychology: Industrial and organizational psychology* (Vol. 12).New York, NY, USs, Inc, 2003, xv, 649.

Cook, D. (1995). The sundered totality: Adorno's Freudo-Marxism. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, 25, 191–215.

Cottle, T.J., & Howard, P. (1969). Temporal extension and time zone bracketing in Indian adolescents. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 28, 599–612.

Cottle, T.J., & Howard, P. (1972). Temporal differentiation and undifferentiation: A study of the structure of Indian adolescents' perceptions of time. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *121*, 215–233.

Cottle, T.J., & Klineberg, S.L. (1974). The present of things future: Explorations of time in human experience. New York: Free Press.

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1988). The future of flow. In M. Csikszentmihalyi & I. S. Csikszentmihalyi (Eds.), *Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness* (p. 364–383). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Csikszentmihalyi, I.S. (Eds.). (1988). Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Csikszentmihalyi, I.S. (1988). Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness: Cambridge University Press.

Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Massimini, F. (1985). On the psychological selection of biocultural information. *New Ideas in Psychology*, *3*, 115–138.

Cushner, K., & Brislin, R. (1996). Intercultural interactions: A practical guide. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage.

Dahl, O. (1995). When the future comes from behind: Malagasy and other time concepts and some consequences for communication. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 19, 197–209.

D'Angelo, H.O. (1982). Las tendencias orientadoras de la personalidad y los proyectos de vida futura del individuo. Su importancia en la sociedad socialista [Guiding trends of personality and future life projects of the individual: Their importance in socialist society]. *Boletin de Psicologia Cuba*, *5*, 58–75.

Davidhizar, R., Giger, J.N., & Turner, G. (1994). Understanding monochronic and polychronic individuals in the workplace. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, *8*, 334–336, 322.

Davidson, A. R. (1977). The etic-emic dilemma: Can methodology provide a solution in the absence of theory? In Y. H. Poortinga (Ed.), *Basic problems in cross-cultural psychology* (p. 49–54). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Swets and Zeitlinger.

Davidson, G. R., & Klich, L. Z. (1980). Cultural factors in the development of temporal and spatial ordering. *Child Development*, 51, 569–571.

Davis, D.A. (1975). Temporal judgment and memory for events (Doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *35*, 5613B.

Davis, D.A. (1975). Temporal judgment and memory for events (Doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan, 1975). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 35, 5613B.

Dawson, K.A. (1992). Comment on Nelson, et al. Comparative time estimation skills of Hispanic children. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 74, 1113–1114.

Day, S.X., & Rottinghaus, P. (2003). The healthy personality. In W. B. Walsh (Ed.), *Counseling psychology and optimal human functioning* (p. 1–23). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

DeBerry, S.T. (1991). The externalization of consciousness and the psychopathology of everyday life: Greenwood Press.

DeLong, A.J. (1985). Experiential space-time relativity: A synopsis. *Man-Environment Systems*, 15, 9–13.

Dempsey, A. (1971). Time conservation across cultures. International Journal of Psychology, 6, 115–120.

Deregowski, J.B. (1970). Effect of cultural value of time upon recall. British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 9, 37-41.

Deregowski, J.B. (1980). Perception. In H.C. Triandis & W. Lonner (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Vol. 3. Basic processes* (p. 21–115). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

Devisch, R. (1992). De quelques concepts socioculturels du temps [Some sociocultural concepts of time]. *Therapie Familiale*, *13*, 227–232.

Diener, E. (1998). Tempo tango: Do you have time to read this? [Review of the book A geography of time: The temporal misadventures of a social psychologist, or how every culture keeps time just a little bit differently]. Contemporary Psychology, 43, 396–397.

Diener, E. (2004). Tempo tango: Do you have time to read this? PsycCRITIQUES, [np].

Dinges, N.G., Tollefson, G., Parks, G.A., & Hollenbeck, A.R. (1978). Anticipated reward and time estimation in young Navajo children. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, 47, 1011–1014.

Donald, M. (1995). The neurobiology of human consciousness: An evolutionary approach. *Neuropsychologia*, *33*, 1087–1102.

Doob, L.W. (1960). Becoming more civilized: A psychological exploration. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Doob, L.W. (1971). Patterning of time. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Driscoll, W.C. (1958). A study of judgment of time intervals in mixed-racial groups. *Dissertation Abstracts*, 19, 1107.

Editorial: Time, cultures, societies. (1994). Information sur les Sciences Sociales, 33, 404.

Edlund, M. (1987). Psychological time and mental illness. New York: Gardner Press.

Eisler, A. (1993). Time perception: Theoretical considerations and empirical studies of the influence of gender, age, and culture on subjective duration. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Stockholm University, Stockholm.

Eisler, A.D. (1992). Time perception: Reproduction of duration by two cultural groups. In S. Iwawaki, Y. Kashima, & K. Leung (Eds.), *Innovations in cross-cultural psychology* (p. 304–310). Amsterdam: Swets & Zeitlinger.

Eissler, K.R. (1952). Time experience and the mechanism of isolation. *Psychoanalytic Review*, 39, 1–22.

Ellwood, R.S. (1994). Religious experience" and socialization: A response to David Hay. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, *4*, 25–28.

Engle, P.L., & Lumpkin, J.B. (1992). How accurate are time-use reports? Effects of cognitive enhancement and cultural differences on recall accuracy. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 6, 141–159.

Erny, P. (1970). [The perception of space and time in traditional Black Africa]. Rev. Psychol. Peuples, 25, 67–74.

Etkin, W. (1985). Evolution of the human mind and emergence of tribal culture: A mentalist approach. *Perspectives in Biology & Medicine*, 28, 498–525.

Ezzell, C. (2002, Sep). Clocking cultures. Scientific American, 287, 74-75.

Fave, A.D., & Massimini, F. (1988). Modernization and the changing contexts of flow in work and leisure. In M. Csikszentmihalyi & I. S. Csikszentmihalyi (Eds.), *Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness* (p. 193–213). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Fiksdal, S. (1990). The right time and pace: A microanalysis of cross-cultural gatekeeping interviews. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.

Filipcová, B., & Filipec, J. (1986). Society and concepts of time. International Social Science Journal, 38, 21–32.

Fischer, R. (1976). Hypnotic recall and flashback: The remembrance of things present. *Confinia Psychiatrica*, *19*, 149–173.

Fischer, R. (1976). On the remembrance of things present: The state-bound and stagebound nature of consciousness. *Man-Environment Systems*, 6, 131–136.

Flaherty, M.G. (2005). An accelerating tempo: Recent contributions to the study of time. *Symbolic Interaction*, 28, 291–296.

Foerster, L.M. (1969). The development of time sense and chronology of culturally disadvantaged children (Doctoral dissertation, University of Arizona). *Dissertation Abstracts*, 29, 3321A–3322A.

Fontana, A.E., & Loschi, J. A. (1974). Edipo y el tiempo aceptado [Oedipus and the time accepted]. *Acta Psiquiatrica y Psicologica de América Latina*, *20*, 284–292.

Fraisse, P. (1983). Le futur dans les perspectives temporelles [The future according to a temporal perspective]. *International Journal of Psychology*, *18*, 489–495.

Frankenberg, R. (1992). 'Your time or mine': Temporal contradictions of biomedical practice. In R. Frankenberg (Ed.), *Time, health and medicine* (p. 1–30). London: Sage.

Fraser, J.T. (1970). Time as a hierarchy of creative conflicts. *Studium Generale*, 23, 597–689.

Fraser, J.T. (1990). Of time, passion, and knowledge: Reflections on the strategy of existence.
(2nd ed.). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
Frazier, K. (2000). Review of the meme machine. Skeptical Inquirer, January.

Frederiksen, N. (1977). How to tell if a test measures the same thing in different cultures. In Y. H. Poortinga (Ed.), *Basic problems in cross-cultural psychology* (p. 14–18). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Swets and Zeitlinger.

Friedman, W. (1990). About time: Inventing the fourth dimension. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Friedman, W. J. (1990). About time: Inventing the fourth dimension. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Fung, H.H., Lai, P., & Ng, R. (2001). Age differences in social preferences among Taiwanese and mainland Chinese: The role of perceived time. *Psychology & Aging*, *16*, 351–356.

Gardet, L., Gurevich, A.J., Kagame, A., Larre, C., Lloyd, G. E. R., Neher, A., et al. (Eds.). (1976). *Cultures and time*. Paris: UNESCO Press.

Gardner, R., Wonnacott, E.J., & Taylor, D.M. (1968). Ethnic stereotypes: A factor analytic investigation. *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, 22, 35–44.

Garrabe, J., & Triantafyllou, M. (1990). Les delires et le temps [Delusions and time]. *Evolution Psychiatrique*, 55, 359–376.

Gasparini, G. (1990). Tempo, cultura e società. Milano, Italy: Angeli.

Gasparini, G. i. (1994). Les cadres temporels des sociétés post-industrielles [The time culture of post-industrial societies]. *Information sur les Sciences Sociales*, 33, 405–425.

Gay, J., & Cole, M. (1967). The new mathematics and an old culture. New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.

Getsinger, S.H. (1978). Psychotherapy and the fourth dimension. *Psychotherapy Theory, Research and Practice*, 15, 216–225.

Gherardi, S., & Strati, A. (1988). The temporal dimension in organizational studies. *Organization Studies*, *9*, 149–164.

Giger, J.N., & Davidhizar, R. (1990). Transcultural nursing assessment: A method for advancing nursing practice. *International Nursing Review*, *37*, 199–202.

Godoy, R., & Jacobson, M. (1999). Covariates of private time preference: A pilot study among the Tsimane' Indians of the Bolivian rain forest. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *20*, 249–256.

Goehring, B., & Stager, J. . (1991). The intrusion of industrial time and space into the Inuit lifeworld: Changing perceptions and behavior. *Environment and Behavior*, 23, 666–679.

Goldman, S. L. (1982). Modern science and western culture: The issue of time. *History of European Ideas*, *3*, 371–401.

Goleman, D., Wilber, K., Tart, C., & Walsh, R. (1993). The riddle of consciousness. In R. Walsh & F. Vaughan (Eds.), *Paths beyond ego: The transpersonal vision* (p. 18–46). Los Angeles, CA: Perigee Books/Jeremy P. Tarcher.

Golia, B., & Antonietti, A. (1992). Reproduction of short time intervals by African immigrants. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 74, 893–894.

Gonzalez, A., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S.A., & Yanofsky, B. (1993). Diferencias en la Orientacion Temporal entre Estudiantes Mexicanos y Norteamericanos [Differences in

time orientation among Mexican and American students]. Revista Mexicana de Psicologia, 10, 9–15.

Gonzalez, A., Zimbardo, P.G., Hall, E.T., Hall, M.R., Buslig, A.L.S., Krupat, E., et al. (1999). Time and place codes: Chronemics and the environment. In L. K. Guerrero & J. A. DeVito (Eds.), *The nonverbal communication reader: Classic and contemporary readings* (2nd ed., p. 227–263). Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland Press.

Gould, S.J. (1987). Time's arrow, time's cycle. Harvard University Press: Cambridge, MA.

Graham, R J. (1982). Perception of time in consumer research: Rejoinder. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 9, 119–120.

Graves, T.D. (1974). Urban Indian personality and the "culture of poverty". American Ethnologist, 1, 65–86.

Green, H.B. (1970). Temporal attitudes in four Negro subcultures. *Studium Generale*, 23, 571–586.

Green, H.B. (1972). Temporal attitudes in four Negro subcultures. In J. T. Fraser, F. C. Haber, & G. H. Müller (Eds.), *The study of time* (p. xxx–xxx). Berlin: Springer.

Grudzen, M., & Oberle, J P. (2001). Discovering the spirit in the rhythm of time. In S. H. McFadden & R. C. Atchley (Eds.), *Aging and the meaning of time: A multidisciplinary exploration* (p. 171–188). New York: Springer.

Gurevich, A.J. (1976). Time as a problem of cultural history. In L. Gardet, A. J. Gurevich, A. Kagame, C. Larre, G. E. R. Lloyd, A. Neher, A. Panikkar, G. Pattaro, & P. Ricoeur (Eds.), *Cultures and time* (p. 229–245). Paris: UNESCO Press.

Gurevich, A.Y. (1969). [Time as a problem of the history of culture]. *Voprosy Filosofii*, 23, 105–116.

Hall, E.T. (1988). The hidden dimensions of time and space in today's world. In F. Poyatos (Ed.), *Cross-cultural perspectives in nonverbal communication* (p. 145–152). Gottingen, Federal Republic of Germany: Hogrefe & Huber.

Hall, E.T., Jr. (1960). A microcultural analysis of time. In A. F. C. Wallace (Ed.), *Men and cultures* (p. 118–122). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Hall, E.T., Jr. (1966). The hidden dimension. Garden City, NY: Anchor Press/Doubleday.

Hall, E.T., Jr. (1973). The silent language. Garden City, NY: Anchor Press/Doubleday.

Hall, E.T., Jr. (1976). Beyond culture. Garden City, NY: Anchor Press/Doubleday.

Hall, E.T., Jr. (1983). The dance of life: The other dimension of time. Garden City, NY: Anchor Press/Doubleday.

Hallowell, A.I. (1955). Cultural factors in spatial orientation. *In:* A.I. Hallowell *Culture and experience.* (pp. 184-202), Baltimore, MD, US: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Hamid, P.N., & James, L. (1973). Temporal perspectives and alienation. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 37, 139–145.

Hansen, D.A. (1993). The child in family and school: Agency and the workings of time. In P. A. Cowan, D. Field, D. A. Hansen, A. Skolnick, & G. E. Swanson (Eds.), *Family, self, and society: Toward a new agenda for family research* (p. 69–102). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Harman, W.W. (1996). Toward a science of consciousness: Addressing two central questions. In S. R. Hameroff, A. W. Kaszniak, & A. C. Scott (Eds.), *Toward a science of consciousness: The first Tucson discussions and debates* (p. 743–751). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Harre, R. (1984). Social elements as mind. British Journal of Medical Psychology, 57, 127–135.

Harris, P.L. (1993). Understanding emotion. In M. Lewis & J. M. Haviland (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (p. 237–246). New York: Guilford Press.

Harris, P.L., Guz, G.R., Lipian, M S., & Man, S.Z. (1985). Insight into the time course of emotion among Western and Chinese children. *Child Development*, *56*, 972–988.

Hassard, J.S. (1991). Aspects of time in organization. Human Relations, 44, 105-125.

Haynes, P., Nixon, J.C., & West, J.F. (1990). Time perception and consumer behaviour: Some cross cultural implications. *Journal of Consumer Studies and Home Economics*, 14, 15-xx.

Heckel, R.V., & Rajagopal, J. (1975). Future time perspective in Indian and American college students. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 95, 131–132.

Helman, C. (1992). Heart disease and the cultural construction of time. In R. Frankenberg (Ed.), *Time, health and medicine* (p. 31–55). London: Sage.

Henry, J. (1965, March/April). White people's time, colored people's time. *Trans-Action*, 2, 31–34.

Hesse, P. (1986). Children's and adolescents' fears of nuclear war: Is our sense of the future disappearing? *International Journal of Mental Health*, 15, 93–113.

Hill, O., & Stuckey, R. W. (1993). Reply to Block. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 76, 1034.

Hill, O.W., Block, R.A., & Buggie, S.E. (2000). Culture and beliefs about time: Comparisons among Black Americans, Black Africans, and White Americans. *Journal of Psychology*, 134, 443–461.

Hill, O.W., & Stuckey, R.W. (1992). Factor structure of beliefs about time among African-American college students. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 75, 785–786.

Hinkle, J.S. (1994). Practitioners and cross-cultural assessment: A practical guide to information and training. *Measurement & Evaluation in Counseling & Development*, 27, 103–115.

Hill, O., Block, R., & Buggie, S. (2000). Culture and beliefs about time: Comparisons among Black Americans, Black Africans, and White Americans. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 134 (4), 443-461.

Ho, D.Y.-F. (1994). Introduction to cross-cultural psychology. In L. L. Adler & U. P. Gielen (Eds.), *Cross-cultural topics in psychology* (p. 3–13). Westport, CT: Praeger.

Hofstede, G. (Ed.). (1980). Culture's consequences: International differences in work-related values. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.

Hofstede, G. (Ed.). (1991). Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind. London: McGraw-Hill.

Hofstede, G. (1991). Empirical models of cultural differences. In N. Bleichrodt & P. J. D. Drenth (Eds.), *Contemporary issues in cross-cultural psychology* (p. 4–20). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger.

Hofstedt, S., & Wolfarth, G. (1982). The child as a psychobiological being--implications for health care. *Topics in Clinical Nursing*, *3*, 29–34.

Holm, N., & McConnochie, K. R. (1976). Time perspective in Aboriginal children. In G. E. Kearney & D. W. McElwain (Eds.), *Aboriginal cognition: Retrospect and prospect* (p. 275–287). New Jersey: Humanities Press.

Hopkins, H. (1986). Temporality and reflexivity: Toward the creative engagement of consciousness. *Human Relations*, 39, 635–645.

Huang, X., Sun, C., & Hu, W. (1998). [Psychological structure of time]. Psychological Science (China), 21, 1–4, 16.

Hughes, D. J. (1991). Blending with an other: An analysis of trance channeling in the United States. *Ethos*, 19, 161–184.

Hui, C. H., & Triandis, H. C. (1985). Measurement in cross-cultural psychology: A review and comparison of strategies. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *16*, 131–152.

Hultsch, D. F., & Bortner, R. W. (1974). Personal time perspective in adulthood: A time-sequential study. *Developmental Psychology*, *10*, 835–837.

Ibrahim, F. A., & Kahn, H. (1987). Assessment of world views. *Psychological Reports*, 60, 163–176.

Imada, A.S., & London, M. (1979). Relationship between subjects, scales, and stimuli in research on social perception. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 48, 691–697.

Irving, M.C. (1989). Natalism as pre and perinatal metaphor. Pre- & Peri-Natal Psychology Journal, 4, 83–110.

Iwawaki, S., Yoshihisa, K., & Leung, K. (Eds.). (1992). Innovations in cross-cultural psychology. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger.

Jaffe, E.D., & Nebenzahl, I.D. (1984). Alternative questionnaire formats for country image studies. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 21, 463–471.

Jilek, W.G. (1982). Altered states of consciousness in North American Indian ceremonials. *Ethos*, 10, 326–343.

Jones, J.M. (1988). Cultural differences in temporal perspectives: Instrumental and expressive behaviors in time. In J. E. McGrath (Ed.), *The social psychology of time: New perspectives* (Vol. 91, p. 21–38). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Jones, J.M. (1994). An exploration of temporality in human behavior. In R. C. Schank & E. Langer (Eds.), *Beliefs, reasoning, and decision making: Psycho-logic in honor of Bob Abelson* (p. 389–411). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Judd, C.M., Park, B., Ryan, C.S., Brauer, M., & Kraus, S. (1995). Stereotypes and ethnocentrism: Diverging interethnic perceptions of African American and White American youth. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *69*, 460–481.

Jülisch, B., Sydow, H., & Wagner, C. (1993). Zukunftserwartungen Ost- und Westberliner Schüler. In G. Trommsdorff (Ed.), *Psychologische Aspekte des sozio-politischen Wandels in Ostdeutschland* (p. 133–142). Berlin: De Gruyter.

Kaernbach, C. (1992). On the consistency of tapping to repeated noise. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 92, 788–793.

Kagame, A. (1976). The empirical apperception of time and the conception of history in Bantu thought. In L. Gardet, A. J. Gurevich, A. Kagame, C. Larre, G. E. R. Lloyd, A. Neher, R. Panikkar, G. Pattaro, & P. Ricoeur (Eds.), *Cultures and time* (p. 89–116). Paris: UNESCO Press.

Kagitcibasi, C., & Poortinga, Y.H. (2000). Cross-cultural psychology: Issues and overarching themes. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 31, 129–147.

Katz, J.H., & Ivey, A. (1977). White awareness: The frontier of racism awareness training. *Personnel & Guidance Journal*, 55, 485–489.

Kawai, M. (1965). Newly acquired pre-cultural behaviour of Japanese monkeys on Koshiu Islet. *Primates*, 6, 1–30.

Kelly, J.R. (1988). Entrainment in individual and group behavior. In J. E. McGrath (Ed.), *The social psychology of time: New perspectives* (Vol. 91, p. 89–110). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Kennedy, Q., Fung, H. H., & Carstensen, L. L. (2001). Aging, time estimation, and emotion. In S. H. McFadden & R. C. Atchley (Eds.), *Aging and the meaning of time: A multidisciplinary exploration* (p. 51–73). New York: Springer.

Khoury, R.M., & Thurmond, G.T. (1978). Ethnic differences in time perception: A comparison of Anglo and Mexican Americans. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 47, 1183–1188.

King, A.R. (1968). Time, society and culture. Human Mosaic, 3, 1-11.

Kirkcaldy, B., Furnham, A., & Levine, R. (2001). Attitudinal and personality correlates of a nation's pace of life. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *16*, 20–34.

Kirson, C. (1951). Time and culture concepts in schizophrenic patients. A. M. A. Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry, 66, 654–655.

Kir-Stimon, W. (1977). "Tempo-statis" as a factor in psychotherapy: Individual tempo and life rhythm, temporal territoriality, time planes and communication. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 14,* 245–248.

Kleinhesselink, R.R., & Rosa, E.A. (1991). Cognitive representation of risk perceptions: A comparison of Japan and the United States. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 22, 11–28.

Klimoski, R. (2006). Introduction: It's about time. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 5, 194–195.

Koff, J. W. (1994). Cross-cultural psychological assessment. In R. J. Corsini (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of psychology* (2nd ed., Vol. 1, p. 361–362). New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Konrad, E., & Kline, M. (1990). Time in organizations: A preliminary study in time urgency. *Psychologische Beitrage*, *32*, 23–27.

Koudou, K.R. (1990). La notion d'age et de temps chez des enfants Ivoiriens de 6 a 12 ans [The concept of age and time in 6-12-year-old children from the Ivory Coast]. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 1, 59–76.

Kowal, K.H. (1975). Perception of duration as a function of cultural familiarity, meaning, and stimulus duration (Doctoral dissertation, Columbia University). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *35*, 3617B.

Kowal, K. H. (1976). Apparent duration of long meaningful events and meaningless intervals. *Memory and Cognition*, *4*, 215–220.

Kristeva, J., & Guberman, R. (1996). *Time and sense: Proust and the experience of literature*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Kubose, S. (1973). Notes on the emerging science of consciousness. *Psychologia: an International Journal of Psychology in the Orient*, Vol. 16(13) 177–178.

Kumar, U. (1986). A management development programme for Indian managers: An experiment with the "personal and management feedback groups. *Management Education & Development*, 17, 217–225.

Kurtz, S.A. (1988). The psychoanalysis of time. Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association, 36, 985–1004.

Laboratory of Comparative Human Cognition. (1979). What's cultural about cross-cultural psychology? *Annual Review of Psychology*, *30*, 145–172.

Lager, E., & Zwerling, I. (1980). Time orientation and psychotherapy in the ghetto. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 137, 306–309.

Lambert, K. (1977). Analytical psychology and historical development in Western consciousness. *Journal of Analytical Psychology*, 22, 158–174.
Lancry, H.A. (1984). Horizon temporel et retraite [Time horizon and retirement]. Bulletin de Psychologie, 37, 743–748.

Lappin, J. (1983). On becoming a culturally conscious family therapist. *Family Therapy Collections*, 6, 122–136.

Larson, E.A. (2004). The time of our lives: The experience of temporality in occupation. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 71, 24–35.

Laughlin, C.D., Jr., McManus, J., & d'Aquili, E.G. (1992). Brain, symbol & experience: Toward a neurophenomenology of human consciousness. New York: Columbia University Press.

Lavik, N. J. (1969). Future time perspective and adolescent behaviour disorders. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavia*, 45, 153–171.

Lee, J.Y., & Sugawara, A.I. (1994). Development of sex-trait stereotye awareness among Korean children. *Early Child Development & Care*, *104*, 95–104.

Lehman, D., Chiu, C., & Schaller, M. (2004). Psychology and culture. Annual Review of Psychology, 55, 689-714.

Leung, K. (1989). Cross-cultural differences: Individual-level vs. culture-level analysis. *International Journal of Psychology*, 24, 703–719.

Leung, K., & Bond, M.H. (1989). On the empirical identification of dimensions for cross-cultural comparisons. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 20, 133–151.

Levelt, W.J. (1981). The speaker's linearization problem. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, 295, 305–315.

Levin, I., & Globerson, T. (1984). The development of time concepts among advantaged and disadvantaged Israeli children. *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 145, 117–125.

Levine, R. (1986, July). *The pace of life across cultures*. Paper presented at the meeting of the Association for the Social Studies of Time, Totnes, England.

Levine, R. (1994, Introduction. In R. Levine (Chair), *Symposium on time and culture*. Symposium conducted at the meeting of the Western Psychological Association, Kailua-Kona, HI.

Levine, R. (1997). A geography of time: The temporal misadventures of a social psychologist, or how every culture keeps time just a little bit differently. New York: Basic Books.

Levine, R.V. (1988). The pace of life across cultures. In J E. McGrath (Ed.), *The social psychology of time: New perspectives* (p. 39–60). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Levine, R.V. (1989, October). The pace of life. Psychology Today, 42-46.

Levine, R.V. (1990, September-October). The pace of life and coronary heart disease. *American Scientist*, 78, 450–459.

Levine, R.V. (1994, December). *Social time: The heartbeat of culture*. Paper presented at the meeting of the Time and Mind, Regensburg, Germany.

Levine, R.V., & Bartlett, K. (1984). Pace of life, punctuality, and coronary heart disease in six countries. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *15*, 233–255.

Levine, R.V., Lynch, K., Miyake, K., & Lucia, M. (1989). The Type A city: Coronary heart disease and the pace of life. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *12*, 509–524.

Levine, R.V., West, L.J., & Reis, H.T. (1980). Perceptions of time and punctuality in the United States and Brazil. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *38*, 541–550.

Levine, R.V., & Wolff, E. (1985, March). Social time: The heartbeat of culture. *Psychology Today*, 19, 28–35.

Lewis, P. A., & Walsh, V. (2005). Time perception: Components of the brain's clock. *Current Biology*, 15, R389–R391.

Llabre, M.M. (1991). Time as a factor in the cognitive test performance of Latino college students. In G. D. Keller, J. R. Denee, & R. J. Magallan (Eds.), *Assessment and access: Hispanics in higher education* (p. 95–104). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Lofty, J.S. (1992). *Time to write: The influence of time and culture on learning to write*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

Longabaugh, R. (1980). The systematic observation of behavior in naturalistic settings. In H. C. Triandis & J. W. Berry (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Vol. 2. Methodology*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Lonner, W.J. (1994). Reflections on 25 years of JCCP. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 25, 8–24.

Lopez, S.R., Grover, K.P., Holland, D., & Johnson, M.J., et al. (1989). Development of culturally sensitive psychotherapists. *Professional Psychology - Research & Practice*, 20, 369–376.

Lorenzetti, L. M. (1981). Il "tempo artificiale" come simbolo nell'arte e nella cultura contemporanea e come strumento terapeutico in alcune tecniche di behavior modification ["Artificial time" as a symbol in modern art and culture and as a therapeutic instrument in some techniques of behavior modification]. *Ricerche di Psicologia*, *5*, 213–221.

Lukwago, S.N., Kreuter, M.W., Bucholtz, D.C., Holt, C.L., & Clark, E.M. (2001). Development and validation of brief scales to measure collectivism, religiosity, racial pride, and time orientation in urban African American women. *Family & Community Health*, 24, 63–71.

Lutz, C. (1992). Culture and consciousness: A problem in the anthropology of knowledge. In P. M. C. D. L. J. Frank S. Kessel (Ed.), *Self and consciousness: Multiple perspectives* (p. 64–87). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Macbeth, J. (1988). Ocean cruising. In I. S. C. Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi (Ed.), *Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness* (p. 214–231). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Macduff, I. (2006). Your pace or mine? Culture, time, and negotiation. *Negotiation Journal*, 22, 31–45.

MacLin, O.H., MacLin, M.K., & Malpass, R.S. (2001). Race, arousal, attention, exposure and delay: An examination of factors moderating face recognition. *Psychology, Public Policy and Law*, 7, 134–152.

MacLin, O. H., & Malpass, R. S. (2001). Racial categorization of faces: The ambiguous race face effect. *Psychology, Public Policy, & Law,* 7, 98–118.

Malpass, R.S. (1977). On the theoretical basis of methodology: A return to basics. In Y. H. Poortinga (Ed.), *Basic problems in cross-cultural psychology* (p. 64–72). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Swets and Zeitlinger.

Malpass, R.S. (1977). Theory and method in cross-cultural research. American Psychologist, xx, 1069–1079.

Maratos, J. (2003). Time across cultures, ages and therapies. *Group Analysis*, 36, 183–191.

Marin, G. (1987). Attributions for tardiness among Chilean and United States students. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 127, 69–75.

Markson, E.W. (1973). Readjustment to time in old age: A life cycle approach. *Psychiatry*, *36*, 37–48.

Masler, E.G. (1973). The subjective perception of two aspects of time: Duration and timelessness. *International Journal of Psycho-Analysis*, 54, 425–429.

Mass, J.P. (1985). Beliefs relating to temporal dimensions held by three ethnic groups in the Fiji Islands. *Psychological Studies*, *30*, 53–65.

Massimini, F., Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Fave, A.D. (1988). Flow and biocultural evolution. In I. S. C. Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi (Ed.), *Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness* (p. 60–81). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Mathey, P. (1992). [Time and the depressive subject]. Encéphale, 18, 491-496.

Mbiti, J. (1965). African? Concept of time. Makerere Sociol. J., 1, 10-17.

McEnroe, C. (1991, February 7). Muslims, Americans see time differently. (pp. x), *Bozeman Daily Chronicle*, Bozeman, MT.

McGrath, J.E. (1988). Introduction: The place of time in social psychology. In J. E. McGrath (Ed.), *The social psychology of time: New perspectives* (Vol. 91, p. 7–17). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

McGrath, J.E. (1988). Time and social psychology. In J.E. McGrath (Ed.), *The social psychology of time: New perspectives* (Vol. 91, p. 255–267). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

McGrath, J.E., & Kelly, J.R. (1986). Time and human interaction: Toward a social psychology of time. New York: Guilford Press.

McGrath, J.E., & Rotchford, N.L. (1983). Time and behavior in organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 5, 57–101.

McGrath, J. E., & Tschan, F. (2004). The complex nature of time. In J. E. McGrath & F. Tschan (Eds.), *Temporal matters in social psychology: Examining the role of time in the lives of groups and individuals* (p. 13–25). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

McInerney, D. M. (2004). A discussion of future time perspective. *Educational Psychology Review*, *16*, 141–151.

McNeely, S. N., & Parker, W. M. (1983). Exploring cultural awareness in schools: Four strategies. *Journal of Non-White Concerns in Personnel & Guidance*, 12, 2–6.

Meade, R.D. (1968). Psychological time in India and America. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 76, 169–174.

Meade, R.D. (1971). Future time perspectives of college students in America and in India. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 83, 175–182.

Meade, R.D. (1972). Future time perspectives of Americans and subcultures in India. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *3*, 93–99.

Meade, R.D., & Singh, L. (1970). Motivation and progress effects on psychological time in subcultures of India. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 80, 3–10.

Meerloo, J.A. (1969). The sense of time and history. *Psychiatrica*, *Neurologia*, *Neurochirurgia*, 72, 353–370.

Mehta, P.H., Rohila, P. K., Sundberg, N.D., & Tyler, L.E. (1972). Future time perspectives of adolescents in India and the United States. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *3*, 293–302.

Melikian, L.H. (1969). Acculturation, time perspective and feeling tone: A cross cultural study in the perception of the days. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 79, 273–275.

Merenda, P.F. (1994). Cross-cultural testing: Borrowing from one culture and applying it to another. In L. L. Adler & U. P. Gielen (Eds.), *Cross-cultural topics in psychology* (p. 53–58). Westport, CT: Praeger.

Meschi, P.X. (1997). Longevity and cultural differences of international joint ventures: Toward time-based cultural management. *Human Relations*, 50, 211–228.

Migliore, S. (1989). Punctuality, pain and time-orientation among Sicilian-Canadians. *Social Science and Medicine*, 28, 851–859.

Minsel, B., Becker, P., & Korchin, S.J. (1991). A cross-cultural view of positive mental health: Two orthogonal main factors replicable in four countries. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 22, 157–181.

Mischel, W. (1958). Preference for delayed reinforcement: An experimental study of a cultural observation. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 56, 57–60.

Mischel, W. (1961). Delay of gratification, need for achievement, and acquiescence in another culture. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, *62*, 543–552.

Mönks, F.J. (1967). [Time perspective as a psychological variable]. Archiv für die Gesamte Psychologie, 119, 131–161.

Mori, I. (1976). A cross-cultural study on children's conception of speed and duration: A comparison between Japanese and Thai children. *Japanese Psychological Research*, *18*, 105–112.

Morsbach, H., & Morsbach, G. (1967). Attitudes of South Africans towards various national and racial groups. *International Journal of Psychology*, *2*, 289–297.

Mukhina, V.S. (1988). [Present-day self-consciousness of peoples of the North]. *Psikologicheskii Zhurnal*, 9, 44–52.

Mumpower, J.M. (2000). The judgment policies of negotiators and the structure of negotiation problems. In T. Connolly, H. R. Arkes, & et al. (Eds.), *Judgment and decision making: An interdisciplinary reader* (2nd ed.).New York, NY, USsity Press, 2000, xviii, 786.

Murungi, J. (1980). Toward an African conception of time. International Philosophical Quarterly, 20, 407–416.

Myers, D. (1992). Time, symbol transformations, and computer games. *Play and Culture*, 5, 441–457.

Nelson, J.R., Smith, D. J., Dodd, J.M., & Smith, M. (1991). Comparative time estimation skills of Hispanic children. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 73, 915–918.

Newnam, R.D. (1980). An approach to the study of qualitative differences in time perspective (Doctoral dissertation, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *41*, 361B–362B.

Nonis, S.A., Teng, J.K., & Ford, C.W. (2005). A cross-cultural investigation of time management practices and job outcomes. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29, 409–428.

Núñez, R., & Sweetser, E. (2006). With the Future Behind Them: Convergent Evidence From Aymara Language and Gesture in the Crosslinguistic Comparison of Spatial Construals of Time. *Cognitive Science: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 30(3), 401-450.

Nurmi, J.E. (1991). How do adolescents see their future? A review of the development of future orientation and planning. *Developmental Review*, 11, 1–59.

Oettingen, G., & Thorpe, J. (2006). Fantasy realization and the bridging of time. In L. J. Sanna & E. C. Chang (Eds.), *Judgments over time: The interplay of thoughts, feelings, and behaviors*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Ohnuki-Tierney, E. (1973). Concepts of time among the Ainu of the northwest coast of Sakhalin. *American Anthropologist*, *71*, 488–492.

Ohnuki-Tierney, E. (1973). Sakhalin Ainu time reckoning. Man, 8, 285–299.

Ojemann, G. (1986). Brain mechanisms for consciousness and conscious experience. *Canadian Psychology*, 27, 158–168.

Onken, M.H. (1999). Temporal elements of organizational culture and impact on firm performance. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 14, 231–243.

Osgood, C.E. (1974). Probing subjective culture: 1: Cross-linguistic tool-making. *Journal of Communication*, 24(1), 21–35.

Osgood, C.E. (1974). Probing subjective culture: 2: Cross-cultural tool-using. *Journal of Communication*, 24(2), 82–100.

Osgood, C.E., May, W.H., & Miron, M.S. (1975). Cross-cultural universals of affective meaning. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press.

Pareek, U., & Rao, T.V. (1980). Cross-cultural surveys and interviewing. In H. C. Triandis & J. W. Berry (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Vol. 2. Methodology* (p. 127–179). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Pedersen, P. (1988). A handbook for developing multicultural awareness: American Association for Counseling and Development.

Peters, L.G. (1988). Borderline personality disorder and the possession syndrome: An ethnopsychoanalytic perspective. *Transcultural Psychiatric Research Review*, 25, 5–46.

Peters, L.G. (1989). Shamanism: Phenomenology of a spiritual discipline. *Journal of Transpersonal Psychology*, 21, 115–137.

Petrzelka, Z. (1988). K interpretaci zmen a vyznamu prozivani casu v zivote cloveka [On the interpretation of changes in and the meaning of the human time experience]. *Ceskoslovenska Psychologie*, *32*, 25–32.

Pfeiffer, M.G., Lehmann, W., & Scheidt, U. (1970). *Cross-cultural scaling studies in the development of probabilistic teaching performance criteria anchored to utility and time scales* (Tech. Rep. No. 5). Philadelphia, PA: La Salle College, Psychological Laboratory.

Pinxten, R. (1995). Comparing time and temporality in cultures. *Cultural Dynamics*, 7, 233–252.

Pinxten, R. (in press). The experience of time and Navaho culture. Cultural Dynamics,

Pitariu, H.D., & Landy, F.J. (1993). Some personality correlates of time urgency. *Revue Roumaine de Psychologie*, 37, 15–25.

Pollmann, T. (1998). On forgetting the historical past. Memory & Cognition, 26, 320–329.

Pollock, G.H. (1971). On time, death, and immortality. *Psychoanalytic Quarterly*, 40, 435–446.

Poole, M.E., & Cooney, G.H. (1987). Orientations to the future: A comparison of adolescents in Australia and Singapore. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 16, 129–151.

Poortinga, Y.H. (1989). Equivalence of cross-cultural data: An overview of basic issues. *International Journal of Psychology*, 24, 737–756.

Price, J.R., & Tare, W. (1975). A cross-cultural study of recall of time-related and non time-related verbal material. *International Journal of Psychology*, *10*, 247–254.

Radzikhovskii, L.A. (1986). The dialogic quality of consciousness in the works of M. Soviet Psychology, 25, 3–28.

Rappaport, H. (1990). Marking time. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Rasek, A., & Rychtarik, K. (1967). Tendency to underestimate the amount of leisure in subjective estimates. *Sociologicky Casopis*, *3*, 23–32.

Reale, P. (1966). [Time concept in the period of development: Experimental study]. *Rivista di Psicologia*, 60, 275–307.

Redersdorff, S., & Guimond, S. (2006). Comparing oneself over time: The temporal dimension in social comparison. In S. Guimond (Ed.), *Social comparison and social psychology: Understanding cognition, intergroup relations, and culture.* New York: Cambridge University Press.

Regmi, M.P. (1988). Nepalese perception of self and other countrymen. *Psychologia: An International Journal of Psychology in the Orient*, 31, 29–33.

Reguer, D., & Gakissa, G.G. (2004). Le temps et la personne agee: Temps et rythmes de vie [Time and the elderly person: Time and rhythms of life]. *Soins Gerontologie*, 17–22.

Rezsohazy, R. (1986). Recent social developments and changes in attitudes to time. *International Social Science Journal*, 38, 33–48.

Rifkin, J. (1987). Time wars: The primary conflict in human history. New York: Henry Holt.

Rigbi-Shafrir, E. (1997). Radical subjectivisation of time in the music of the fin-de-siecle: An example by Max Reger. In I. Deliege & J. Sloboda (Eds.), *Perception and cognition of music* (p. 47–68). Hove, England: Psychology Press/Erlbaum.

Ring, K., & Agar, A. (1986). The Omega Project. Revision, 8, 87-88.

Riviere, C. (1992). Le ritualisme en situation de conflit [Ritualism in conflictual situations]. *Psychanalystes*, 189–201.

Robbins, M.C., Kilbride, P.L., & Bukenya, J.M. (1968). Time estimation and acculturation among the Baganda. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 26, 1010.

Roberts, A.H., & Greene, J.E. (1971). Cross-cultural study of relationships among four dimensions of time perspective. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *33*, 163–173.

Robinson, J.P., & Godbey, G. (1999). *Time for life: The surprising ways Americans use their time*. Pennsylvania State University Press: University Park, PA.

Rossatto, C. A. (2000). Schooling optimism: A critical analysis of low- and highachieving students' temporal consciousness in Brazil and United States school settings (low achieving students, cross cultural). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 60, 2375A.

Roth, M.S. (1994). Freud's use and abuse of the past. In M. S. Roth (Ed.), *Rediscovering history: Culture, politics, and the psyche* (pp. 336–348). Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Rowell, L. (1986). Thinking time and thinking about time in Indian music. *Communication and Cognition*, *19*, 229–240.

Salladay, S. A. (1982). In the event of death. Omega - Journal of Death & Dying, 13, 1-11.

Salo, S., Krause, K., & Astedt-Kurki, P. (1990). Ajan kokeminen Martha E. Rogersin kasitteellisen mallin viitekehyksessa [Time experience in the framework of Martha E. Rogers' conceptual model]. *Hoitotiede*, *2*, 242–247.

Sanders, J.L., & Brizzolara, M.S. (1985). Connotative meaning of time among Egyptian and American students. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *125*, 587–590.

Schilder, E. (1981). On the structure of time with implications for nursing. Nursing Papers, 13, 17–26.

Schiller, P.A. (1991). An examination of Native Americans' and Euro-Americans' future time orientation (Doctoral dissertation, California School of Professional Psychology, Fresno). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, *51*, 4066B.

Schleidt, M., Eibl-Eibesfeldt, I., & Poppel, E. (1987). A universal constant in temporal segmentation of human short-term behavior. *Naturwissenschaften*, 74, 289–290.

Schriber, J.B. (1986). An exploratory study of the temporal dimensions of work organizations (Doctoral dissertation, Claremont Graduate School, 1986). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 47, 832B–833B.

Schwartz, T., & Romanucci-Ross, L. (1974). Drinking and inebriate behavior in the Admiralty Islands, Melanesia. *Ethos*, *2*, 213–231.

Schwitzgebel, R. (1962). The performance of Dutch and Zulu adults on selected perceptual tasks. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 57, 73–77.

Seginer, R. (1988). Adolescents' orientation toward the future: Sex role differentiation in a sociocultural context. *Sex Roles*, *18*, 739–757.

Seginer, R. (2005). Adolescent future orientation: Intergenerational transmission and intertwining tactics in cultural and family settings. In W. Friedlmeier, P. Chakkarath, and

B. Schwarz (Eds.), Culture and human development: The importance of cross-cultural research for the social sciences. Hove, England: Psychology Press/Erlbaum (UK) Taylor & Francis.

Seginer, R., & Halabi, H. (1991). Cross-cultural variations of adolescents' future orientations: The case of Israeli Druze versus Arab and Jewish male. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *22*, 224–237.

Shaara, L., & Strathern, A. (1992). A preliminary analysis of the relationship between altered states of consciousness, healing, and social structure. *American Anthropologist*, 94, 145–160.

Shaker, P. (1983). Sociobiology, analytical psychology, and the evolution of consciousness. *Revision*, *6*, 86–92.

Shannon, L. (1975). Development of time perspective in three cultural groups: A cultural difference or an expectancy interpretation. *Developmental Psychology*, 11, 114–115.

Shannon, L. (1976). Age change in time perception in Native Americans, Mexican Americans, and Anglo-Americans. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 7, 117–122.

Shimp, T.A. (1982). Perception of time in consumer research: Comment. Journal of Consumer Research, 9, 116–118.

Siegman, A.W. (1962). Future-time perspective and the perception of duration. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 15, 609–610.

Silverman, I., Phillips, K., & Silverman, L.K. (1996). Homogeneity of effect sizes for sex across spatial tests and cultures: Implications for hormonal theories. *Brain and Cognition*, *31*, 90–xx.

Sime, J.D., & Kimura, M. (1988). Home gardens: Attachment to the natural environment and the experience of time from a Western and Japanese perspective. *EDRA Environmental Design Research Association*, 105–111.

Simonov, P.V. (1986). Concerning the nature of the unconscious mind. *Soviet Journal of Psychology*, 7, 337–341.

Simonov, P.V. (1992). "The bright spot of consciousness. Journal of Russian & East European Psychology, 30, 5–12.

Singh, L. (1970). Motivation and progress effects on psychological time in Indian communities. *Indian Psychological Research*, 6, 100–103.

Slattery, C.J., & Slattery, J.J. (1989). Thinking about time: Helping children gain a sense of history. In D. M. Topping, D. C. Crowell, and V. N. Kobayashi (Eds.), *Thinking across cultures: The Third International Conference on Thinking* (p. 437–444). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Slobin, D.I. (1990). The development from child speaker to native speaker. In J. W. Stigler, R. A. Shweder, and G. Herdt (Eds.), *Cultural psychology: Essays on comparative human development* (p. 233–256). New York: Cambridge University Press.

Slocombe, T.E. (1999). Applying the theory of reasoned action to the analysis of an individual's polychronicity. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *14*, 313–322.

Smith, G.A., & Stanley, G. (1983). Clocking g: Relating intelligence and measures of timed performance. *Intelligence*, 7, 353–368.

Smith, M.W. (1952). Different cultural concepts of past, present and future. *Psychiatry*, 15, 395–400.

Sodowsky, G.R. (1994). World views of White Americans, mainland Chinese, Taiwanese, and African students: An investigation into between-group differences. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 25, 544.

Sodowsky, G.R., Maguire, K., Johnson, P., Ngumba, W., & Kohles, R. (1994). World views of White Americans, mainland Chinese, Taiwanese, and African students: An investigation into between-group differences. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *25*, 309–324.

Spadone, R.A. (1992). Internal-external control and temporal orientation among Southeast Asians and White Americans. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 46, 713–719.

Spangler, M., & Petrovich, O. (1978). Future time perspective and feeling tone: A study in the perception of the days by Yugoslav and American students. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *105*, 189–193.

Spears, N., Lin, X., & Mowen, J.C. (2001). Time orientation in the United States, China, and Mexico: Measurement and insights for promotional strategy. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 13, 57–75.

Sperber, A.D., DeVellis, R.F., & Boehlecke, B. (1994). Cross-cultural translation: Methodology and validation. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 25, 501–524.

Stoller, P. (1994). "Conscious" ain't consciousness: Entering the museum of sensory absence. In S. Constantina Nadia (Ed.), *The senses still: Perception and memory as material culture in modernity* (p. 109–121). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Sundberg, N.D., Poole, M.E., & Tyler, L.E. (1983). Adolescents' expectations of future events: A cross-cultural study of Australians, Americans, and Indians. *International Journal of Psychology*, *18*, 415–427.

Sutton, J. (2002). Cognitive conceptions of language and the development of autobiographical memory. *Language & Communication*, 22, 375–390.

Tanaka, Y. (1967). Cross-cultural compatibility of the affective meaning systems (measured by means of multilingual semantic differentials). *Journal of Social Issues*, 23(1), 27–46.

Ten-Houton, W.D. (1999). Text and temporality: Patterned-cyclical and ordinary-linear forms of time-consciousness, inferred from a corpus of Australian aboriginal and Euro-Australian life-historical interviews. *Symbolic Interaction*, *22*, 121–137.

Tissot, R., Zutter, A. M., & Andreoli, A. (1984). Choix des symptomes dans les nevroses: Syndromes psychosomatiques [Choice of symptoms in neuroses: Psychosomatic syndromes]. *Annales Médico-Psychologiques*, 142, 641–662.

Toro, J.P. (1986). El hombre Latinoamericano y el tiempo: Un enfoque psico-cultural [Time and the Latin-American: A psycho-cultural approach]. *Revista Chilena de Psicologia*, *8*, 41–49.

Torralbo, A., Santiago, J., & Lupiâaänez, J. (2006). Flexible conceptual projection of time onto spatial frames of reference. *Cognitive Science*, *30*, 745–757.

Traugott, E. C. (1975). Spatial expressions of tense and temporal sequencing: A contribution to the study of semantic fields. *Semiotica*, *15*, 207–230.

Trevarthen, C. (1993). Brain science and the human spirit. In J. B. Ashbrook (Ed.), *Brain, culture, and the human spirit: Essays from an emergent evolutionary perspective* (pp. 129–181). Lanham, MD: University Press of America.

Traindis, H. (1995). Individualism and collectivism. Boulder, Co.: Westview.

Triandis, H.C. (1995). A theoretical framework for the study of diversity. In: M.M. Chemers, S. Oskamp, and M.A. Costanzo *Diversity in organizations: New perspectives for a changing workplace*. (pp. 11-36), Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications.

Triandis, H.C. (1994). Cross-cultural industrial and organizational psychology. In H. C. Triandis, M. D. Dunnette, and L. M. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (2nd ed., Vol. 4, pp. 103–172). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Triandis, H. C. (1994). Culture and social behavior. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Triandis, H.C., & Brislin, R.W. (1984). Cross-cultural psychology. American Psychologist, 39, 1006–1016.

Trombetta, C., Larcan, R., & Filippello, P. (1988). Comprensione ed elaborazione di sequenze logico-tempo-rali in soggetti di eta evolutiva [Comprehension and elaboration of logico-temporal sequences in development age subjects]. *Studi di Psicologia dell'Educazione*, 7, 84–94.

Tulving, E. (2002). Chronesthesia: Conscious awareness of subjective time. In D. T. Stuss and R.T. Knight (Eds.), *Principles of frontal lobe function* (p. 311–325). New York: Oxford University Press.

Turton, D., & Ruggles, C. (1978). Agreeing to disagree: The measurement of duration in a southwestern Ethiopian community. *Current Anthropology*, *19*, 585–600.

Tversky, B., Kugelmass, S., & Winter, A. (1991). Cross-cultural and developmental trends in graphic productions. *Cognitive Psychology*, 23, 515–557.

Tyler, L.E., & Sundberg, N.D. (1991). Cross cultural research on perception of possibilities. In. Michael I. Posner (Ed.), *Contemporary approaches to cognitive psychology* (p. 17–29). Varanasi, India: Rishi Publications.

Tzeng, O.C., & May, W.H. (1975). More than E, P and A in semantic differential scales: An answer to questions raised by S. T. M. Lane. *International Journal of Psychology*, 10, 101–117.

Valsiner, J. (1993). Making of the future: Temporality and the constructive nature of human development. In: G. Turkewitz and D. A. Devenny (Eds.), *Developmental time and timing* (p. 13–40). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Van De Vijver, F.J.R., & Leung, K. (2000). Methodological issues in psychological research on culture. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 31, 33–51.

van den Auweele, Y. (1975). Zukunftsvorstellungen von 15-jährigen in der DDR und der BRD. Köhlner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 27, 592–610.

Vandervert, L.R. (1995). Chaos theory and the evolution of consciousness and mind: A thermodynamic-halographic resolution to the mind-body problem. *New Ideas in Psychology*, *13*, 107–127.

Vasquez, A. (1980). [Social time: Foreign children at French school]. Enfance, 179-191.

Vasquez, A. (1982). Temps social/Temps culturel [Social time, cultural time]. *Enfance*, 335–350.

Vlajkovic, J. (1986). Orijentacija u vremenu: Moguci parametar normalnosti i zrelosti [Orientation in time as a possible parameter of normality and maturity]. *Psihijatrija Danas*, *18*, 35–44.

Vodanovich, S., & Watt, J. (1999). The relationship between time structure and boredom proneness: An investigation within two cultures. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 139 (2), 143-152.

Vohra, S., Rodolfa, E., de la Cruz, A., & Vincent, C., et al. (1991). A cross-cultural training format for peer counselors. *Journal of College Student Development*, *32*, 82–84.

Walsh, R. (1995). Phenomenological mapping: A method for describing and comparing states of consciousness. *Journal of Transpersonal Psychology*, 27, 25–56.

Warin, M., Baum, F., Kalucy, E., Murray, C., & Veale, B. (2000). The power of place: Space and time in women's and community health centers in south Australia. *Social Science and Medicine*, *50*, 1863–1875.

Watkins, D. (1989). The role of confirmatory factor analysis in cross-cultural research. *International Journal of Psychology*, 24, 685–701.

Watson, N.H., Zimmerman, L.J., & Peterson, P.M. (1989). The present past: An examination of archaeological and native American thinking. In D.M. Topping, C.C. Crowell, & V. M. Kobayashi (Eds.), *Thinking across cultures: The Third International Conference on Thinking* (p. 33–42). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Wearden, J., Wearden, A., & Rabbitt, P. (1997). Age and IQ effects on stimulus and response timing. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 23 (4), 962-979.

Weldhen, M. (1986). Ethics, identity and culture: Some implications of the moral philosophy of Iris Murdoch. *Journal of Moral Education*, 15, 119–126.

Wellendorf, F. (2000). Die Zeit der Psychoanalyse und die Psychoanalyse der Zeit [Time in psychoanalysis and the psychoanalysis of time]. Forum der Psychoanalyse: Zeitschrift für klinische Theorie und Praxis, 16, 189–203.

Werman, D.S. (1986). The oceanic experience and states of consciousness. *Journal of Psychoanalytic Anthropology*, 9, 339–357.

Werman, D.S. (1986). On the nature of the oceanic experience. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 34, 123–139.

White, I., & Herby, M. (1984). The effects of culture on managing organizational conflict in the U.S. Virgin Islands and the West Indies. *Organization Development Journal*, 2, 19–21.

Whiteford, G., & Barns, M. (1999). Te Ao Hurihuri: New Zealand's first time. In: W. E. Pentland and A. S. Harvey (Eds.), *Time use research in the social sciences*. (p. 211–230). New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum.

Whorf, B.L. (1950). An American Indian model of the universe. A Review of General Semantics, 8, 27–33.

Wilkes, K.V. (1988). ----, yishi, duh, um, and consciousness. In A.J. Marcel & E. Bisiach (Eds.), *Consciousness in contemporary science* (p. 16–41). Oxford, England: Clarendon Press/Oxford University Press.

Wolf, J. (1975). The integral study of the person, culture, and society in anthropology. *Psychoenergetic Systems*, 1, 87–89.

Wolfgang, A. (1973). A cross-cultural comparison of locus of control, optimism toward the future and time horizon among Italian, Italo-Canadian and new Canadian youth. *Proceedings of the 81st Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association*, *8*, 299–300.

You, H. (1994). Defining rhythm: Aspects of an anthropology of rhythm. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry*, 18, 361–384.

Young, B.G. (1981). Children's conceptions of the aging process: A cross-cultural investigation (Doctoral dissertation, Arizona State University). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 41, 3878A.

Zacher, A. (1982). Zur Anthropologie der Manie [The anthropology of mania]. Zeitschrift für Klinische Psychologie und Psychotherapie, 30, 267–276.

Zalewska, J. (2004). U bâostwo czasowe i jego pomiar. Studia Psychologiczne, 42, 93-103.

Zern, D. (1970). A cross-cultural and longtitudinal investigation of a psychoanalytic hypothesis on time salience. *Proceedings of the Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association*, 5, 269–270.

Zern, D. (1970). The influence of certain child-rearing factors upon the development of a structured and salient sense of time. *Genetic Psychology Monographs*, *81*, 197–254.

Zhou, R., & Huang, X. (2000). A cross cultural study of the metaphorical representation of time. *Psychological Science (China)*, *23*, 141–145.

Zhou, A. (1998). The influence of past experience on implicit social perception. Acta Psychologica Sinica, 30 (2), 149-153.

Zielen, V. (1976). Contemporary death symbolism. Analytische Psychologie, 7, 64-79.

Zuili, N. (1991). De la temporalite (reve et realite) a la creativite (comme potentialite) [The birth of a model from creativity based on scientific discoveries in temporality]. *Psychologie Medicale*, *23*, 1505–1510.

5. Culture and Decision Making

"all decisions are cultural in their foundation."

The research literature on the psychological aspects of decisionmaking has tended to have been dominated in the recent decades by two quite discrete perspectives (see Hancock, 2007). The first and more traditional approach is characterized by the work of Kahneman, Tversky and their respective colleagues. This was the attempt to examine a very econometric approach to decision-making, often represented as a form of rational-choice theory. Thus, in this experimentation the individual would typically have been presented with a highly-constrained choice between two alternatives which in mathematical terms had a finite solution. Thus the alternatives could be of equivalent value or one of the choices could exceed the other in terms of utility to the person making the choice. This paradigm, and its various extensions, was used to examine how people actually react to such choices. Collectively, the assembled data demonstrate that, on average, people are not rational decision makers and they possess certain inherent characteristics such as the aversion to loss. What is less certain is whether these non-rational tendencies elaborate across all cultures. At the present time, there appears to be insufficient empirical a database to decide whether such patterns of response are general across cultures or are specifically culture-bound. One of the inherent problems, of course, is that questions so posed are themselves inherently culturally-bound since they must express what it is that will be lost or gained. In most existing work this is given as a monetary loss or gain, but again, such loss or gain is culturally-dependent to the degree that different cultures value money itself.

In actuality, this issue of value is one of a number of criticisms that have been raised concerning this form of research on decision-making. The primary concern is about the closed nature of the decision to be made. While this is all well and good as a laboratory experimental procedure, in the real-world people almost never have complete knowledge about the potential state of the outcomes. As a result, one of the questions with respect to this form of investigation is just how generalizable the results are to actual decisions which people make. This is especially true for cultural effects. For indeed, differing cultures have highly differing contexts and attach different weights to such context. Examples abound but for example the penalties for various acts such as theft wary widely according to culture. Thus a decision to enact a robbery in one set of circumstances in one culture will be very different in a second culture where the penalties may well be much harsher. In rationale-choice theory this might well be expressed as a change in the perceived utility but the full issue of context is not captured. Further, there appears to be evidence that expert decision-makers do not actually engage in such forms of econometric analysis anyway. Especially in time-limited, stressful, and highly practiced situations, they appear to enact a much more facile strategy based on pattern-recognition decision-making (Klein, 1998).

Since the latter 'naturalistic decision-making' is a relatively new enterprise, there remains relatively little current information upon how peoples of differing cultures engage in such decisions, on common forms of task. There is information on culture and decision-making which we have already begun to assemble and continue to assemble in the form of this living document but again, the critical issue is finding solid empirical evidence across cultures, especially on common decision tasks. The only regular source of this information to date appears to lie in the realm of business but the generality of this information is necessarily limited. We strongly suggest a programmatic effort aimed at a quantitative metaanalysis of this issue of culture and decision-making. However, we suspect that there will be limited and disappointing amounts of such extractable information at this time. While this may be disappointing, it will be a strong indicator of what would be needed by further programmatic research. Again, in this as with other areas, we have to distinguish between the base of knowledge itself and then the way in which this basic understanding is commuted into increased cultural readiness for our proximal customer, military personnel.

Referenced Literature Culture and Decision-Making

Berthon, P., Pitt, L., & Ewing, M. (2001). Corollaries of the collective: The influence of organizational culture and memory development on perceived decision-making context. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 29(2), 135-150.

Briley, D. A., Morris, M. W., & Simonson, I. (2000). Reasons as carriers of culture: Dynamic versus dispositional models of cultural influence on decision making. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 27(2), 157-178.

Choi, I., Choi, J.A., & Norenzayan, A. (2004). *Culture and decisions*. Malden, MA, US: Blackwell Publishing.

Choi, I., & Nisbett, R.E. (2000). Cultural psychology of surprise: Holistic theories and recognition of contradiction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79 (6), 890-905.

Choi, I., Nisbett, RE., & Norenzayan, A. (1999). Causal attribution across cultures: Variation and universality. *Psychological Bulletin*, *125* (1), 47-63.

Chu, P., Spires, E., & Sueyoshi, T. (1999). Cross-cultural differences in choice behavior and use of decision aids: A comparison of Japan and the United States. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 77 (2), 147-170.

Crookes, D., & Thomas, I. (1998). Problem solving and culture--exploring some stereotypes. *Journal of Management Development*, 17 (8), 583-591.

Earley, P. (1999). Playing follow the leader: Status-determining traits in relation to collective efficacy across cultures. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 80 (3), 192-212.

Ensari, N., & Murphy, S. (2003). Cross-cultural variations in leadership perceptions and attribution of charisma to the leader. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 92 (1-2), 52-66.

Fernández, Z.E. (2003-2004). Las lenguas como esquemas cognoscitivos. / languages as cognitive schemas. *Revista Latina de Pensamiento y Lenguaje, 12* (1), 1-10.

Fong, C., & Wyer, R. Jr. (2003). Cultural, social, and emotional determinants of decisions under uncertainty. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 90(2), 304-322.

Galtung, J. (1981). Structure, culture, and intellectual style: An essay comparing saxonic, teutonic, gallic and nipponic approaches. *Social Science Information/sur les sciences sociales*, 20(6), 817-856.

Hancock, P.A. (2007). Cold calculation or intuitive instinct: Solving the secrets of sustained survival. In: R.J. Gerrig (Ed.). *The psychology of survivor*. (pp. 197-206), Benbela Books, Dallas, TX.

Ishii, K., & Kitayama, S. (2004). Correspondence between communicative practices and information processing systems: A review of empirical studies from a cultural perspective. *Japanese Journal of Social Psychology*, *19* (3), 241-254.

Ji, L., Peng, K., & Nisbett, R.E. (2000). Culture, control, and perception of relationships in the environment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(5), 943-955.

Ji, L., Zhang, Z., & Nisbett, R.E. (2004). Is it culture or is it language? Examination of language effects in cross-cultural research on categorization. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(1), 57-65.

Klein, G. (1998). Sources of power. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press,

Li, J., & Karakowsky, L. (2001). Do we see eye-to-eye? Implications of cultural differences for cross-cultural management research and practice. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *135* (5), 501-517.

Li, J., Xin, K., & Pillutla, M. (2002). Multi-cultural leadership teams and organizational identification in international joint ventures. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 13 (2), 320-337.

Lord, R., & Maher, K. (1991). Leadership and information processing: Linking perceptions and performance. Cambridge, MA, US: Unwin Hyman, 340.

Low, S., & Shi, Y. (2001). Cultural influences on organizational processes in international projects: Two case studies. *Work Study: A Journal of Productivity Science*, 50 (6-7), 276-285.

Markus, H.R., & Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: Implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychological Review*, *98*(2), 224-253.

Masuda, T., & Nisbett, R.E. (2001). Attending holistically versus analytically: Comparing the context sensitivity of Japanese and Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *81*(5), 922-934.

Nibler, R., & Harris, K.L. (2003). The effects of culture and cohesiveness on intragroup conflict and effectiveness. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *143* (5), 613.

Nisbett, R.E., Peng, K., Choi, I., & Norenzayan, A. (2001). Culture and systems of thought: Holistic versus analytic cognition. *Psychological Review*, *108*(2), 291-310.

Oishi, S., & Diener, E. (2003). Culture and well-being: The cycle of action, evaluation and decision. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(8), 939-949.

Peng, K., & Nisbett, R. E. (2000). Dialectical responses to questions about dialectical thinking. *American Psychologist*, 55(9), 1067-1068.

Peterson, M.F., Miranda, S.M., Smith, P. B., & Haskell, V.M. (2003). *The sociocultural contexts of decision making in organizations*. New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press.

Sosik, J., & Jung, D. (2002). Work-group characteristics and performance in collectivistic and individualistic cultures. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *142* (1), 5-23.

Tsukasaki, T., & Ishii, K. (2004). Linguistic-cultural relativity of cognition: Rethinking the Sapir-Whorf hypothesis. *Japanese Psychological Review*, 47(2), 173-186.

Viale, R., Andler, D, & Hirschfeld, L. (2006). *Biological and cultural bases of human inference*. Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Wilkof, M., Brown, D., & Selsky, J. (1995). When the stories are different: The influence of corporate culture mismatches on inter-organizational relations. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 31 (3), 373-388.

6. Culture and Conflict

One of the least clear areas which we have had the chance to evaluate in this initial review of literature concerns the ways in which differing cultures react to the psychological dimension of conflict. We have, as yet, not considered a comparable evaluation of how cultures react to threat. The latter is certainly an allied area and we recommend further evaluation of these two important issues as the project proceeds. While it is clear that all extant cultures are derived, at least to some degree, from successful survival of inter-cultural conflict, it is equally certain that all cultures do not react in the same way to the idea of or the practice of formal or informal warfare. The present spatial distribution of cultures across the globe represent a vestigial pattern in which the response of the culture to the idea of conflict and the possession of land an resources clearly co-vary to some degree. What is at present unclear is how this complex inter-weaving of forces plays out in confrontational and nonconfrontational regions of the world. We are all aware of specific invasions and specific instances of colonization. Indeed, we are presently involved in two such primary actions at the present. What is unclear is how cultures and individuals adjust, or fail to adjust psychologically to these external conditions. We need a much more extensive evaluation of these factors since they will provide a baseline understanding with respect to how difficult military actions are liable to be in differing respective parts of the world. The present listing is therefore an initial and incomplete one. Our program team will need further expert input into this vital issue.

References Literature on Culture and Conflict

Björkqvist, K. (1997). The inevitability of conflict, but not of violence: Theoretical considerations on conflict and aggression. (pp. 25-36), In: D.P. Fry and K. Björkqvist,

(Eds.). Cultural variation in conflict resolution: Alternatives to violence. Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

Dovidio, J., ten Vergert, M., & Stewart, T. (2004). Perspective and prejudice: Antecedents and mediating mechanisms. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30 (12), 1537-1549.

Durodié, B. (2006). Cultural Precursors and Psychological Consequences of Contemporary Western Responses to Acts of Terror. *; In:* M. Fitzduff, and C.E. Stout, (Eds.). The psychology of resolving global conflicts: From war to peace (pp. 307-326), Westport, CT: Praeger Security International.

Euwema, M.C., & Van Emmerik, H. (2007). Intercultural competencies and conglomerated conflict behaviors in intercultural conflict. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *31* (4), 427-441.

Fox, J. (2002). In the name of God and nation: The Overlapping influence of separatism and religion on ethnic conflict. *Social Identities: Journal for the Study of Race, Nation and Culture, 8* (3), 439-455.

Fry, D.P., & B.C. Fry. (1997). Culture and conflict-resolution models: Exploring alternatives to violence. *In:* D.P. Fry and K. Björkqvist, (Eds.). *Cultural variation in conflict resolution: Alternatives to violence.* (pp. 9-23), Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

Fry, D., & Björkqvist, K. (1997). Cultural variation in conflict resolution: Alternatives to violence. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.: Mahwah, N.J.

Galtung, J. (1997). Conflict life cycles in Occident and Orient. D.P. Fry and K Björkqvist, (eds.). In: *Cultural variation in conflict resolution: Alternatives to violence*. (pp. 41-49), Hillsdale, NJ, England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc,

Gelfand, M., Higgins, M., & Nishii, L. (2002). Culture and egocentric perceptions of fairness in conflict and negotiation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87 (5), 833-845.

Gonzakz, A., & Khokhlov, N. (1977). Cognitive consistency: A cross-cultural consideration. *Indian Journal of Psychology*, 52 (4), 306-319.

Goto, S., & Chan, D. (2005). Becoming friends or remaining foes: An empirical test of a causal model of inter-group contact across two cultures. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29 (2), 197-216.

Joseph, J. (2007). Mediation in war: Winning hearts and minds using mediated condolence payments. *Negotiation Journal*, 23 (3), 219-248.

Kannetzky, F. (2007). What makes cultural heredity unique? On action-types, intentionality and cooperation in imitation. *Mind & Language*, 22 (5), 592-623.

Kaushal, R. (2006). The role of culture and personality in choice of conflict management strategy. *International Journal of Intercultural relations*, *30* (5), 579-603.

Kimmel, P.R. (2000). Culture and conflict. In: M. Deutsch and P.T. Coleman (Eds.). *The handbook of conflict resolution: Theory and practice*. (pp. 453-474), San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass.

Lee, S. (2003). The effect of culture and self-construal on face-concerns and mediation techniques of an informal third-party intermediary in intercultural/interpersonal conflict. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 63 (11-A), 3790.

Lee, Y-T., Takaku, S., & Ottati, V. (2004). Perception and Interpretation of Terrorism, Justice, and Conflict: Three Cultures and Two Sides of One Coin. In: Y-T. Lee, C. McCauley, Moghaddam, F., and Worchel, S. (Eds.). *The psychology of ethnic and cultural conflict.* (pp. 217-234), Westport, CT, US: Praeger Publishers/Greenwood Publishing Group.

Leung, K., & Morris, M.W. (2001). Justice through the lens of culture and ethnicity. In:J. Hamilton and V. L. Hamilton (Eds.). *Handbook of justice research in law*. (pp. 343-378), Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers. McGuigan, R. (2007). How do evolving deep structures of consciousness impact the disputant's creation of meaning in a conflict? *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 67 (7-B), 4135.

Morris, M., & Fu, H. (2001). How does culture influence conflict resolution? A dynamic constructivist analysis. *Social Cognition*, *19* (3), 324-349.

Nahmias, E. (2006). Folk fears about freedom and responsibility: Determinism vs. reductionism. *Journal of Cognition and Culture*, 6 (1-2), 215-237.

Nuckolls, C.W. (2003). Culture and human development in a theory of action beliefs. In: S. Maasen., W. Prinz, and G. Roth (Eds.). *Voluntary action: Brains, minds, and sociality*. (pp 281-299), New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.

Ramirez, J., & Richardson, D. (2001). Cross-cultural approaches to research on aggression and reconciliation. (13th Edition). Nova Science Publishers.

Ritchie, J. (1977). Cognition of place: The island mind. Ethos, 5 (2), 187-194.

Sample, S. (1998). Military buildups, war, and realpolitik: A multivariate model. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 42 (2), 156-175.

Sanchez-Burks, J., Nisbett, R.E., & Ybarra, O. (2000). Cultural styles, relationship schemas, and prejudice against out-groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79(2), 174-189.

Segall, M. (1986). Culture and behavior: Psychology in global perspective. *Annual Review* of *Psychology*, 37, 523-564.

Serlin, I., Berger, M.R., & Bar-Sinai, R. (2007). Moving through conflict: Understanding personal and cultural differences through movement style. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 47 (3) 367-375.

Shore, B. (1996). Culture in mind: Cognition, culture and the problem of meaning. New York: Oxford University Press.

Smith, P.B., & Long, K.M. (2006). Social identity theory in cross-cultural perspective. *In:* R. Brown and D.Capozza (Eds.). *Social Identities: Motivational, Emotional and Cultural Influences.* (pp. 153-169). Hove, England: Psychology Press/Taylor & Francis (UK),

Spencer-Rodgers, J., Williams, M. J., Hamilton, D. L., Peng, K., & Wang, L. (2007). Culture and group perception: Dispositional and stereotypic inferences about novel and national groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *93*(4), 525-543.

Tinsley, C.H. (2004). Culture and conflict: Enlarging our dispute resolution framework. In: M.J. Gelfand and J.M. Brett (Eds.). *The handbook of negotiation and culture*. (pp. 193-210), Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, CA.

Tzeng, O., Neel, R., & Landis, D. (1981). Effects of cultures and languages on self conceptions. *International Journal of Psychology*, 16 (2), 95-109.

Van Der Zee, K., & Van Der Gang, I. (2007). Personality, threat and affective responses to cultural diversity. *European Journal of Personality*, *21* (4), 453-470.

van Dijk, T.A., Ting-Toomey, S., & Smitherman, G. (1997). Discourse, ethnicity, culture and racism. *In:* Discourse as social interaction: Discourse studies: A multidisciplinary introduction, van Dijk, Teun A.; Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc, 1997. pp. 144-180.

Wang, Q. (2000). Culture, self, and emotion. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 61 (5-B), 2800.

Wexler, B. (2006). Brain and culture: Neurobiology, ideology, and social change. MIT Press: Cambridge, MA.

Zaw, G. (2006). The attribution of intentionality in relation to culture and self. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 67(3-B), 1751.

7. Culture, Risk and Risk-Taking

Risk and risk analysis has been one of the greatest challenges in human capability assessment, especially in relation to complex issues such as social behavior. Over the years there has been a sequence of efforts to establish quantitative models of risk and associated risk-taking behavior. These have met with highly varied levels of success. In respect of certain, relatively closed circumstances in which much is known about the environment to hand, e.g., nuclear power station operations, then risk assessment models have been somewhat effective. As we progress to more 'open' social conditions, e.g., social transportation issues, the predictions derived from quantitative risk models become much les satisfactory and much more aggregated across wider swathes of time and space. In respect of the present literature, we are here mostly concerned with the individualistic perception of risk and whether that perception varies systematically or non-systematically across differing cultures. As with some other areas which we have begun to examine, we have extensive understanding of risk perception from the perspective encountered in the western culture but relatively little comparative evidence from risk perceptions of radically different cultures. The perception of risk is immediately related to the issue of fear and it is evident from a purely econometric model that the general perceptions of risk (and the greatest associated fears) simply do not accord with the external realities (Kluger, 2006). The classic example in the western culture is the fear associated with shark attack which represents a miniscule risk but occupies the nightmares of many. What our program needs to look to establish is the degree to which such rational and irrational perceptions of risk and fear vary across the various cultures of concern. This is clearly an area which deserves much further attention as our program progresses.

Referenced Literature on Culture, Risk and Risk-Taking

Arnett, J. (1991). Still crazy after all these years: Reckless behavior among young adults aged 23-27. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *12*, 1305-1313.

Arnett, J. (1992). Reckless behavior in adolescence: A developmental perspective. *Developmental Review*, *12*, 339-373.

Arnett, J., & Jensen, L. (1993). Cultural bases of risk behavior: Danish adolescents. *Child Development*, 64, 1842-1855.

Arnett, J., & Jensen, L.A. (1994). Socialization and risk behavior in two countries: Denmark and the United States. *Youth and Society*, *26*, 3-22.

Ben Zur, H., & Breznitz, S. J. (1981). The effect of time pressure on risky choice behavior. *Acta Psychologica*, 47, 89-104.

Bernoulli, D. (1738). Specimen theoriae novae de mensura sortis. *Commentarii Academiae Scientiariam Imperialis Petropolitanae*, *6*, 175-192. Translated by L. Sommer (1954). Exposition of a new theory on the measurement of risk, *Econometrica*, *22*, 23-36.

Bettman, J.R., Johnson, E.J., & Payne, J.W. (1990) A componential analysis of cognitive effort in choice. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 45, 111-139.

Camerer, C.F., & Kunreuther, H. (1989). Decision processes for low probability events: Policy implications. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *8*, 565-592.

Dawes, R.M. (1988). Rational choice in an uncertain world. San Diego: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich.

Dawes, R.M., and Corrigan, B. (1974). Linear models in decision making: *Psychological Bulletin*, 81, 95-106.

Douglas, M., & Wildavsky, A. (1982). *Risk and culture*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Einhorn, H. J., & Hogarth, R. M. (1986a). Judging probable cause. *Psychological Bulletin*, 99, 3-19.

Einhorn, H.J., & Hogarth, R.M. (1986b). Decision making under ambiguity. *Journal of Business*, 59, 225-250.

Fischhoff, B., Watson, S. R., & Hope, C. (1984). Defining risk. Policy Sciences, 17, 123-139

Fuller, R. (1988). On learning to make risky decisions. Ergonomics, 31, 519-526.

Graham, J.D. (1982). On Wilde's theory of risk homeostasis. Risk Analysis, 2, 235-237.

Hansson, S. O. (1989). Dimensions of risk. Risk Analysis, 9, 107-112.

Kahneman, D., Slovic, P., & Tversky, A. (1982). Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases. Cambridge University Press: New York.

Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica*, 47, 263-291.

Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1984). Choices, values, and frames. *American Psychologist*, 39, 341-350.

Kaplan, S., & Garrick, B.J. (1981). On the quantitative definition of risk. *Risk Analysis*, 1, 11-27.

Keeney, R.L. (1982). Decision analysis: An overview. Operations Research, 30, 803-838.

Keeney, R.L., & Raiffa, H. (1976). Decisions with multiple objectives: Preferences and value tradeoffs. New York; Wiley.

Keinan, G. (1987). Decision making under stress: Scanning of alternatives under controllable and uncontrollable threats. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *52*, 639-644.

Keynes, J.M. (1921). A treatise on probability. London: Macmillan.

Kleinmuntz, D.N. (1987). Human decision processes: Heuristics and task structure. In: P.A. Hancock (Ed.), *Human factors psychology*: North Holland: Elsevier.

Kluger, J. (2006). The psychology of risk: Why we worry about the wrong things. Time, December $4^{\rm th}.$

Langer, E. (1975). The illusion of control. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 32, 311-328.

Lopes, L.L. (1987). Between hope and fear: The psychology of risk. In L. Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology, Vol. 20* (pp. 255 295). New York: Academic Press.

Machina, M.J. (1987). Decision making in the presence of risk. Science, 236, 537-543.

Malaterre, G., Ferrandez, F., Fleury, D., & Lechner, D. (1988). Decision making in emergency situations. *Ergonomics*, *31*, 643-655.

Orr, L. (1982). Goals, risks and choices. Risk Analysis, 2, 239-242.

Payne, J.W., Bettman, J.R., & Johnson, E.J. (1988). Adaptive strategy selection in decision making. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 14*, 534-552.

Payne, J.W., Bettman, J.R., & Johnson, E.J. (1993). *The adaptive decision maker*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Payne, J.W., & Braunstein, M.L. (1978), Risky choice: An examination of information acquisition behavior. *Memory & Cognition, 6,* 554-561.

Perrow, C.A. (1984). Normal accidents: Living with high-risk technologies. Basic Books: New York.

Ravinder, H.V., Kleinmuntz, D.N., & Dyer, J.S. (1988). The reliability of subjective probabilities obtained through decomposition. *Management Science*, *34*, 186-199.

Savage, I. (1993). Demographic influences on risk perceptions. Risk Analysis, 4, 413-420.

Schoemaker, P.J.H. (1990). Are risk-attitudes related across domains and response modes? *Management Science*, *36*, 1451-1463.

Simon, H.A. (1956). Rational choice and the structure of the environment. *Psychological Review*, 63, 129-138.

Simon, H.A. (1983). Reason in human affairs. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Slovic, P. (1987). Perception of risk. Science, 236, 280-285.

Slovic, P., & Fischoff, B. (1982). Targeting risk. Risk Analysis, 2, 227-234.

Slovic, P., Fischhoff, B., & Lichtenstein, S. (1985). Characterizing perceived risk. In R. Kates, C. Hohenemser, & J. Kasperson (Eds.), *Perilous progress. Managing the hazards of technology* (pp. 91 125). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Sterman, J.D. (1989). Misperceptions of feedback in dynamic decision making. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 43, 301-335.

Svenson, O., & Edland, A. (1987). Changes of preferences under time pressure: choices and judgments: *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 28, 322-330.

Tversky, A. (1969). Intransitivity of preferences. Psychological Review, 76, 31-48.

Tversky, A. (1972). Elimination by aspects: A theory of choice. *Psychological Review*, 79, 281-299.

Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1973). Availability: A heuristic for judging frequency and probability. *Cognitive Psychology*, *4*, 207-232.

Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1986). Rational choice and the framing of decisions. *Journal of Business*, 59, 251-284.

Vlek, C., & Stallen, P.J. (1980). Rational and personal aspects of risk. *Acta Psychologica*, 45, 273-300.

von Neumann, J., & Morgenstern, O. (1947). *Theory of games and economic behavior*. (2nd ed.). Princeton University Press.

Wagenaar, W.A., & Keren, G.B. (1988) Chance and luck are not the same. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 1, 65-75.

Wallach, M., & Kogan, N. (1961). Aspects of judgment and decision making: Interrelationships and change with age. *Behavioral Science*, *6*, 23-26.

Weber, E. (1988). A descriptive measure of risk. Acta Psychologica, 69, 185-203.

Wehrung, D.A., Lee, K., Tse, D.K., & Vernitsky, I.B. (1989). Adjusting risky situations: A theoretical framework and empirical test. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, *2*, 189-212.

Weistein, N.D. (1984). Why it won't happen to me: Perceptions of risk factors and susceptibility. *Health Psychology*, *3*, 431-457.

Wilde, G.J.S. (1982). The theory of risk homeostasis: Implications for safety and health. *Risk Analysis*, *2*, 209-225.

Wright, G. (1984). Behavioral decision theory. Beverly Hills. CA: Sage.

Wright, P. (1974). The harassed decision maker: Time pressures, distractions, and the use of evidence: *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 59, 5, 555-561.

Yates, J.F. (1990). Judgment and decision making. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall. Hall .

Yates, J.F. (1992), (Ed.). Risk-taking behavior. Wiley: New York.

Yates, J.F., & Stone, E.R. (1992). The risk construct. In J.F. Yates (Ed.) Risk-Taking Behavior. New York: Wiley.

Yates, J.F., & Zukowski, L. G. (1976). Characterization of ambiguity in decision making. *Behavioral Science*, *21*, 19-25.

Zakay, D., & Wooler, S. (1984). Time pressure, training, and decision effectiveness: *Ergonomics*, 27, 273-284.
Zeckhauser, R.J., & Viscusi, W.K. (1990). Risk within reason. Science, 24, 559-564.

Zuckerman, M. (1979). Sensation-seeking beyond the optimal level of arousal. Erlbaum: Mahwah, N.J.

8. The Experiences of Ex-Patriots

The use of expatriates is a pervasive practice throughout most multinational corporations and progressively more in the militaries of the world also. The practice of utilizing expatriates is based on the notion that any organization, especially those who choose to compete on an international scale, is dependent on the people they employ to ensure their success (Black, Gregersen, & Mendenhall, 1992). Expatriates are sources of specific cultural knowledge, business acumen, and other technical skills that multinational corporations need to survive. They are, in a sense, the proverbial glue that binds multinational corporations together as well as the grease that keep these organizations operating smoothly.

In many cases, the use of expatriate employees has helped organizations become global leaders in their fields (Black et al, 1992). Furthermore, expatriates have been described to help realize inter and intra-organizational benefits to both host and parent organizations. The inter-systemic benefits for parent organizations, as well as host organizations, include the promotion of inter-organizational cooperation and the developing international networks. The intra-systemic benefits to parent organizations include the possibility of introducing organizational change, rewarding and motivating professionals, and enriching the parent organization's career development system. Additionally, the benefits to host organizations in regards to employing expatriates include the addition of high quality professional manpower, improving training systems, and improving organizational functioning (Pazy & Zeira, 1983). Expatriates are often also seen as representatives of the parent organization, and as such are bearers of culture from the parent organization (Guzzo, 1996). Upon the return of expatriates to their home offices, they take with them knowledge and experience from subsidiary organizations to the parent

company that can serve to increase productivity, and improve managerial practices over time (Downes & Thomas, 2000).

Despite the benefits, employing expatriate employees can also pose acute financial problems for multinational organizations. These problems result when expatriates are not effective while on their foreign postings, or choose to terminate their postings prematurely. It has been noted that expatriates have failure rates as high as 40% in developed countries and an astronomical 70% in still developing countries (Shay & Tracey, 1997). Furthermore, in 1994 it was estimated that with the premature return of an expatriate, an organization stands to incur costs ranging from \$250,000 to \$1 million and innumerable costs in terms of opportunities and corporate disruptions. Taken together, lost organizations employing expatriates face the possibility that that they may incur inordinate financial losses when employing expatriates (Harrison, 1994). The inherent benefits of using expatriates as well as the prohibitive costs associated with their failure have pressured organizations to assess what factors contribute to expatriate effectiveness and success. Due to this interest from organizations, numerous authors have attempted to clarify the issue. Areas of particular interest have been understanding expatriates' work requirements, the challenges that they encounter while posted abroad and what can be done from an organizational perspective to facilitate expatriate success. The following is a brief discussion of each of these three topic areas.

Understanding the work domain of expatriates is likely to be the most important issue when seeking to maximize expatriates' effectiveness. The importance of this issue stems from the logic that the type of work an expatriate will perform will necessitate the possession of very specific skills that are matched to the task at hand (Clement, 1988). For instance, expatriates who perform managerial duties may need vastly different skills than expatriates who work as technicians. n order to manage a group of foreign employees, managers need to have relational skills (i.e. the ability to deal effectively with the 'unique' clients in a foreign culture) and cultural empathy (i.e. a willingness to accept other cultures as a way of life) in addition to a high level of fluency in the language of their host country. Technicians, on the other hand may find these skills superfluous. Their job entails solving technical problems. Consequently, an understanding of problems and effective communication skills to relate solutions are the only skills an expatriate technician needs to be considered effective (Clement, 1988).

Accurately matching expatriates' skills to specific tasks contribute greatly to their success. However, there are also a host of other factors that can have a detrimental impact on an expatriate. Most of these factors pertain to the adjustment, otherwise known as the acculturation of an expatriate, to a foreign culture. Expatriates and their families oftentimes find it exceedingly difficult to adapt to life in a new country (Guzzo, 1996), especially if a culture is vastly different, or in scholarly terms culturally distant from their own. Cultural distance refers to the degree of similarity or difference that exists between cultures. The United States, for instance is very similar to Canada in terms of values, but quite dissimilar from China or Saudi Arabia. Therefore, expatriates from the United States will likely find it easier to adapt to the Canadian culture than to either China or Saudi Arabia.

The cultural setting in which expatriates find themselves, however, is not the sole factor that can affect their success. There are also a number of personal characteristics of expatriates that can contribute to their success. The most important of these is that expatriates should have a desire to succeed (Sussman, 2000). With a strong desire for success, expatriates are likely to endure discomfort and even hardship in order to

successfully complete their assignment. They also need to be able to deal with ambiguity and should not rely heavily on their own culture to make sense of new environments. In order to be capable of doing this, expatriates need to have a strong self concept (i.e. strong beliefs who they are that is structured, consistent and stable), but also flexible and complex. This can buffer them from potentially negative information they may encounter during their sojourn. Sussman also points out that expatriates should be high in what she calls centrality of identity (or knowledge of how culture impacts their self perceptions). She notes that when high centrality of identity is coupled with a high desire to succeed, expatriates will have the ability to recognize, learn, and engage in culturally appropriate behaviors when they are called for. Cultural flexibility is another important factor which is something that can enable expatriate to make necessary adjustments in behavior and thought. Generally, individuals who are considered to be high self-monitors are more culturally flexible. Another important characteristic of successful expatriates is a thorough understanding of the culture in which they are working. Lastly, expatriates should also be able to psychologically adjust (e.g. be able to have feelings of wellbeing and satisfaction) as well as exhibit socio-cultural competence, defined as the ability to fit in with a new culture and being able to act interactively. In sum, expatriates should therefore be proactive, flexible and resilient within new cultural contexts to be able to culturally adapt.

Organizations can oftentimes lessen and, arguably, even prevent some of the pressures that accompany expatriates' adjustment to different cultures. Considering the Sussman's (2000) discussion of personal characteristics of expatriates, it should be clear that organizations can select employees that are more likely to succeed abroad. However, once selected, organizations can also help expatriates to overcome the difficulties of adjustment and facilitate the adjustment process to a foreign culture by providing specific training and aid (Lueke & Svyantek, 2000). The adjustment and orientation to a foreign culture that is needed generally differs from one position to the other, and is largely due to the type of role that an individual will perform while on his or her foreign posting (Clement, 1998).

Over and above training, organizations can also set realistic expectations and give realistic previews of the job expatriates' will be performing. This is a critical component to ensuring expatriate success, as surprise about the downsides of a job often leads to disillusionment with not only the job, but also working for a particular organization (Lueke & Svyantek, 2000). This situation can easily be exasperated when individuals accept foreign postings. If they do encounter situations other than what they were lead to believe existed in the country of their posting, surprise can easily become disillusionment and may ultimately result in the expatriate quitting the job. To counter this problem, organizations need to take into account that there is a socialization process that takes place when an individual accepts a foreign posting.

During this socialization process ample attention should be given to the expatriate employees to ensure proper adjustment (Lueke & Svyantek, 2000). This may affect the expatriates' perceptions of organizational involvement and support they have regarding their employers. In turn, this extra attention to proper adjustment increases the amount of organizational commitment an expatriate employee has towards his or her employer, increases job satisfaction, and decreases the possibility of psychological withdrawal from the job.Psychological withdrawal can be described as the process employees undergo before they decide to quit the job. This process can be countered by organizations helping their expatriate workforce find housing, as well as pointing out of shops, restaurants, and local attractions in the new place (Guzzo, 1996).

When employers are seen as being involved with and concerned about the socialization process, employees on foreign postings will tend to seek more feedback, which can help increase their effectiveness. Taken together, the recognition of a socialization period and adequate organizational support during this period can aid in lowering turnover rates of expatriate employees (Lueke & Syvantek, 2001; Kraimer & Wayne, 2001).Expatriates can afford organizations incredible opportunities to disseminate knowledge and provide employees opportunity for personal growth. However, realizing these benefits may be a difficult enterprise for both expatriates and their employing organizations. Organizations will have to become more adept at managing this process due to the increasingly rapid rate with which business is conducted on a global scale. With this being the case, expatriates will increasingly become the norm rather than the exception to the rule as multinational organizations seek to gain a global competitive advantage over their competitors (Guzzo, Noonan & Elron, 1994). As the use of expatriates escalates, more research needs to be conducted in terms of how the expatriate workforce's makeup differs all over the world.

Referenced Literature on the Experiences of Ex-Patriots

Adler, N. (1991). International dimensions of organizational behavior, PWS-Kent, Boston, MA

Anonymous. (1995). Greater recognition needed for spouses of expatriates working in China . *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 10, i-ii.

Aryee, S., Chay, Y.W. & Chew, J. (1996). An investigation of the willingness of managerial employees to accept an expatriate assignment. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 17, 267-283.

Baruch, Y., & Altman, Y. (2002). Expatriation and repatriation in MNCs: A taxonomy. *Human resource management*, *41*(2), 239-259.

Bhuian, S. & Al-Jabri, I. (1996). Expatriate turnover tendencies in Saudi Arabia: An empirical examination. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, *4*, 393.

Black, J.S., Gregersen, H.B., & Mendenhall, M.E. (1992). *Global assignments: Successfully expatriating and repatriating international managers*, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA.

Black, J.S., Mendenhall, M., & Oddou, G. (1991). Toward a Comprehensive Model of International Adjustment: An Integration of Multiple Theoretical Perspectives. *The Academy Of Management Review*, *16*, 291-318.

Caligiuri, P.M. (2000). The big five personality characteristics as predictors of expatriate's desire to terminate the assignment and supervisor-rated performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 53, 67-88.

Carr, S.C. (2004). *Globalization and culture at work: Exploring their combined glocality*. New York, NY, US: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.

Chen, Y., Tjosvold, D., & Su, S.F. (2005). Goal interdependence for working across cultural boundaries: Chinese employees with foreign managers. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29(4), 429-447.

Clement, R.W. (1988). Management development in the 1980s: A field in transition. *The Journal of Management Development*, 7, 45-56.

Domsch, M., & Lichtenberger, B. (1991). Managing the Global Manager: Predeparture Training and Development for German Expatriates in China and Brazil. *The Journal of Management Development*, 10, 41-53.

Downes, M., & Thomas, A.S. (2000). Knowledge transfer through expatriation: The Ucurve approach to overseas staffing. Journal of Managerial Issues, 12, 131-149.

Du-Babcock, B. (2007). Language-based communication zones and professional genre competence in business and organizational communication: A cross-cultural case approach. *Journal of Asian Pacific Communication. Special Issue: Culture, contexts, and communication in multicultural Australia and New Zealand, 17*(1), 149-171.

Fish, A., & Wood, J. (1997). Managing spouse/partner preparation and adjustment: Developing a meaningful portable life. *Personnel Review*, *26*, 445-466.

Freeman, K.A., & Kane, J.S. (1995). An alternative approach to expatriate allowances: An "international citizen". *The International Executive*, *37*, 245-259.

Glanz, L. (2003). Expatriate stories: A vehicle of professional development abroad? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 18, 259.

Gopalan, S. & Rivera, J. (1997). Gaining a perspective on Indian value orientations: Implications for expatriate managers. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 5, 156.

Guzzo, R.A. (1996). The expatriate employee. *Journal of Organizational Behavior: Trends in Organizational Behavior*, *3*, 123-137.

Guzzo, R.A., Noonan, K.A., & Elron, E. (1994). Expatriate managers and the psychological contract. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 617-626.

Harris, P.R., & Harris, D.L. (1987). Women managers and professionals abroad. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 2, i-ii.

Harrison, J. (1994). Developing successful expatriate managers: a framework for structural design and strategic alignment of cross-cultural training programs. *Human Resource Planning*, 17, 17-36.

Harvey, M., & Novicevic, M. M. (2006). The evolution from repatriation of managers in *MNEs to 'patriation' in global organizations*. Northampton, MA, US: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Harvey, M., & Novicevic, M. M. (2002). The hypercompetitive global marketplace: The importance of intuition and creativity in expatriate managers. *Journal of World Business*, 37(2), 127-138.

Howe, I., C.K., Tseng, A.T, & Hong, T.K. (1990). The role of culture in training in a multinational context. *The Journal of Management Development*, 9, 51 - 58.

Huang, T., Chi, S., & Lawler, J. J. (2005). The relationship between expatriates' personality traits and their adjustment to international assignments. International Journal of Human Resource Management, 16(9), 1656-1670.

Johnson, D.W., & Johnson, R.T. (2005). New developments in social interdependence theory. Genetic, social, and general psychology monographs, 131(4), 285-358.

Kraimer, M.L., Wayne, S.J., & Jaworski, R.A. (2001). Sources of support and expatriate performance: The mediating role of expatriate adjustment. *Personnel Psychology*, 54, 71-99.

Littrell, R. (2002). Desirable leadership behaviours of multi-cultural managers in China. *The Journal of Management Development, 21*, 5.

Lueke, S.B., & Svyantek, D.J. (2000). Organizational socialization in the host country: The missing link in reducing expatriate turnover. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, *8*, 380–400.

Luthans, K.W., & Farner, S. (2002). Expatriate development: The use of 360-degree feedback *The Journal of Management Development*, 21, 780-793.

Martinko, M.J., & Douglas, S.C. (1999). Culture and expatriate failure: An attributional explication. *International Journal of Organizational*, 7, 265-293.

Matveev, A. V., & Nelson, P. E. (2004). Cross-cultural communication competence and multicultural team performance: Perceptions of American and Russian managers. International Journal of Cross Cultural Management, 4(2), 253-270.

Mendenhall, M. & Oddou, G. (1985). The dimensions of expatriate acculturation: A review. *The Academy of Management Review*, *10*, 39.

Montagliani, A., & Giacalone, R. (1998). Impression management and cross-cultural adaption. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 138, 598.

Olson, B. J., Bao, Y., & Parayitam, S. (2007). Strategic decision making with Chinese firms: The effects of cognitive diversity and trust on decision outcomes. *Journal of World Business*, 42(1), 35-46.

Oppedal, B. (2006). *Development and acculturation*. New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press.

Osman-Gani, A.M. (2000). Developing Expatriates for the Asia-Pacific Region: A Comparative analysis of multinational enterprise managers from five countries across three continents. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 11, 213.

Pazy, A., & Zeira, Y. (1983). Training Parent-Country Professionals in Host-Country Organizations. *The Academy of Management Review*, *8*, 262 -273.

Reade, C. (2003). Going the extra mile: Local managers and global effort. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 18, 208.

Samuel, A. Chay, Y.W., & Chew, J. (1996). An investigation of the willingness of managerial employees to accept an expatriate assignment. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 17, 267–284.

Selmer, J., & Lam, H. (2004). Third-culture kids: Future business expatriates? *Personnel Review*, 33, 430-445.

Selmer, J., Leung, A.S.M. (2003). Expatriate career intentions of women on foreign assignments and their adjustment. *Journal of Managerial Psychology* 18, 244-258.

Shaffer, M. & Harrison, D. (1998). Expatriates' psychological withdrawl from international assignments: Work, non-work, and family influences. *Personnel Psychology*, *51*, 87.

Shay, J., & Tracey, J. (1997). Expatriate managers. Cornell Hotel & Restaurant Administration Quarterly, 38, 30-36.

Sparrow, P. (2006). Global knowledge management and HRM. Northampton, MA, US: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Stephens, G.K., & Black, J.S. (1991). The impact of spouses' career-orientation on managers during international transfers. *Journal of Management Studies*, 28, 417-428.

Suutari, V. & Brewster, C. (2001). Expatriate management practices and perceived relevance. *Personnel Review*, *30*, 554.

Toh, S.M., & Denisi, A.S. (2003). Host country national reactions to expatriate pay policies: A model and implications. The Academy of Management Review, 28, 606-621.

Vallaster, C. (2005). Cultural diversity and its impact on social interactive processes: Implications from an empirical study. International Journal of Cross Cultural Management, 5(2), 139-163.

Vance, C.M., & Paik, Y. (2002). One size fits all in expatriate pre-departure training? Comparing the host country voices of Mexican, Indonesian and US workers. *The Journal of Management Development*, 21, 557-571.

Ward, C., & Kennedy, A. (2001). Coping with cross-cultural transition. *Journal of Cross - Cultural Psychology*, 32, 5, 636-642.

Woldu, H.G., Budhwar, P.S., & Parkes, C. (2006). A cross-national comparison of cultural value orientations of Indian, Polish, Russian and American employees. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 17(6), 1076-1094.

Wong, M.M.L. (2005). Organizational learning via expatriate managers: Collective myopia as blocking mechanism. Organization Studies, 26(3), 325-350.

Yiu, L., & Saner, R. (2000). Determining the impact of cognitive styles on the effectiveness of global managers: Propositions for further research. *Human Resource Development*, 11, 319-324.

9. Cultural Competence

A construct which is allied to the areas of cultural awareness, cultural intelligence, and cultural readiness is that which has been refereed to as cultural competence. At present, we take this to mean the manifest expression of various skills relevant to the management and understanding of cultural issues which extend beyond one's home culture. As with other facets of cultural capability, it requires a combination of knowledge and understanding together with an identification or empathy with alternative views and perspectives on common issues. A level of competence implies some directly observable and measurable demonstration of that skill. One question that immediately emerges is whether cultural competence is exhibited beyond one single cross-cultural comparison. For example, is any individual who exhibits great facility in one pair-wise situation able to transfer these skills to alternative circumstances involving other cultures? Alternatively, is cultural competence directly culturally dependent? If the former is the case it argues for direct skills training for military personnel with an emphasis on specific cultural expertise. Thus, we would recommend training to reinforce the present strategy which is often used to make someone an expert in a specific culture. However, if there are generalize-able cultural skills, or more broadly, general cultural competence, then we would wish to understand the basis of such competence as it will allow the flexible implementation of such selected and trained individuals to any nominal site of conflict. As with some of the other areas that we have begun to evaluate here, the present section largely consists of relevant citations. One of the recommendations that we here advance for the progression of the program is the definition of and relationship between the multiple constructs involved in cultural awareness. As noted, these are composed of elements that we have briefly examined in this review such as cultural intelligence, cultural competence and the central theme of our collective efforts cultural readiness.

Referenced Literature on Cultural Competence

Adler, I. (2001). Culture shock. Business Mexico, 11, 21.

Antoniou, P., Levitt, C., & Whitman, K. (2005). General managers' capability in Asian organizations- empirical finding of four studies. *Journal of Global Business*, 16, 67-73.

Aycan, Z. (2005). The interplay between cultural and institutional/structural contingencies in human resource management practices. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 16, 1083-1119.

Canen, A.G. & Canen, A. (2004). Multicultural competence and trust: A new road for logistics management? *Cross Cultural Management*, 11, 38.

Cassell, C. & Biswas, R. (2000). Editorial: Managing diversity in the new millennium. *Personnel Review*, 29, 268.

Cseh, M., Ardichvili, A., Gasparishvili, A., Krisztian, B. & Nemeskeri, Z. (2004). Organizational culture and socio-cultural values: Perceptions of managers and employees in five economies in transition. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, *17*, 5.

Dicken, C. (1969). Predicting the success of peace corps community development workers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 33, 597 – 606.

Dreachslin, J., Hunt, P., Sprainer, E. & Snook, Jr., I. (1999). Communication patterns and group composition: Implications for patient-centered care team effectiveness. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 44, 252.

Erondu, E. (2002). The concept and application of managerial competence in developed and developing economies: A two country analysis. *Journal of African Business, 3*, 59-84.

Fisher, G. & Hartel, C. (2003). Cross-cultural effectiveness of western expatriate-Thai client interactions: Lessons learned for IHRM research and theory. *Cross Cultural Management*, 10, 4.

Flory, M. (1998). International team effectiveness. Journal of Managerial Psychology, 13, 225-229.

Frink, D., Robinson, R., Reithel, B. Arthur, M., et al. (2003). Gender demography and organization performance. *Group and Organizational Management, 28*, 127.

Gamst, G., Dana, R., Der-Karabetian, A., Aragon, M., et. al. (2004). Cultural competency revised: The California brief multicultural competence scale. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, 37, 163.

Ghosh, S. (2001). Ethnic diversity and managerial effectiveness in South Africa. *The Academy of Management Executive*, 15, 136.

Gilmartin, R. (1999). Diversity and competitive advantage at Merck. *Harvard Business Review*, 77, 146.

Hutchings, K. (2003). Cross-cultural preparation of Australian expatriates in organizations in China: The need for greater attention in training. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 20, 375.

Hutchings, K. & Weir, D. (2006). Understanding networking in China and the Arab world. *Journal of European Industrial Training*, *30*, 272-290.

Kikoski, J. (1999). Effective communication in the performance appraisal interview: Face-to-face communication for public managers in the culturally diverse workplace. *Public Personnel Management, 28*, 301.

Kretchik, W. (2003). Multinational staff effectiveness in UN peace operations: The case of the U.S. Army and UNMIH, 1994-1995. *Armed Forces and Society*, *29*, 393.

Lim, B. (1995). Examining the organizational culture and organizational performance link. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 16, 16.

Mamman, A. (1995). Socio-biographical antecedents of intercultural effectiveness: The neglected factors. *British Journal of Management*, 6(2), 97.

McKenna, S. (1995). The cultural transferability of business and organizational reengineering: Examples from southeast Asia. *The TQM Magazine*, 7, 12. McShulskis, E. (1998). Affirmative action effectiveness questioned. HR Magazine, 43, 27.

Mischel, F. & Mischel, W. (1958). Relationships between Anthropology and Psychology in field work. *American Psychologist, 13*, 600-601.

Mischel, W. (1961). Delay of Gratification, need for achievement, and acquiescence in another culture. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, *62*, 543-552.

Richard, O., Kochan, T. & McMillan-Capehart, A. (2002). The impact of visible diversity on organizational effectiveness: Disclosing the contents in Pandora's black box. *Journal of Business and Management*, *8*, 265.

Robie, C., Johnson, K., Nilsen, D. & Hazucha, J. (2001). The right stuff: understanding cultural differences in leadership performance. *The Journal of Management Development, 20*, 639.

Saphiere, D. (2000). Online cross-cultural collaboration. Training & Development, 54, 71.

Scase, R. (2006). Q: How can I effectively manage generational and cultural diversity? *Strategic HR Review*, *5*, 7.

Snow, C., Snell, S., Davison, S. & Hambrick, D. (1996). Use transnational teams to globalize your company. *Organizational Dynamics*, 24, 50.

Stone, R. (2001). Improving the effectiveness of trade negotiations in China: An interview study. *International Journal of Management*, 18, 465-472.

Vivero, V. & Jenkins, S. (1999). Existential hazards of the multicultural individual: Defining and understanding "culture homelessness". *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 5, 6-26.

Wheeler, M. (1998). Measuring diversity: A strategy for organizational effectiveness. *Employment Relations Today*, 25(1), 61-68.

Wilcox, D. & McCray, J. (2005). Multicultural organization competence through deliberative dialogue. *Organization Development Journal*, 23, 77.

Yousef, D. (1998). Satisfaction with job security as a predictor of organizational commitment and job performance in a multicultural environment. *International Journal of Manpower*, 19, 184-194.

Zakira, N. (2000). The effects of cross-cultural training on the acculturation process of the global workforce. *International Journal of Manpower, 21*, 492.

10. Cultural Intelligence

"Before we can understand cultural intelligence it would beadvisable to be clear by what we think we mean by intelligence in the first place."

Cultural intelligence, otherwise known as CQ, is an emerging theoretical concept that has been gaining prominence in the cross-cultural management literature. As a concept it holds great promise for crosscultural management advance as well as benefit for those who have to face the realities of managing individuals in cross-cultural contexts on a daily basis. Cultural intelligence can be broadly defined as "*an individual's capability to adapt effectively to new cultural contexts*" (Early & Ang, 2003, p. 59) both within and across cultures (Ng & Early (2006). CQ has been described as distinct yet complementary to other forms of intelligence such as academic, practical, social, and emotional intelligence (Selmeski, 2007). One distinct aspect of CQ is that has been described to be composed of four relatively distinctive components (Early & Ang, 2003; Ng & Early, 2006; Selmeski, 2007), these are:

- Meta Cognition: Strategies of awareness, planning, checking knowledge, and develop coping strategies (Ng & Early, 2006; Selmeski, 2007).
- Cognition: Specific knowledge that people are able to gain and comprehend about a new culture based on various cues provided (Early & Ang, 2003, p 91).
- Motivation: One's propensity and commitment to act on the cognitive facet as well as persevere acquiring knowledge and

understanding a new culture and overcome stumbling blocks or failure (Early & Ang, 2003, p 91).

Behavioral: The capability of a person to enact his or her desired intended actions to a given cultural situation" (Early & Ang, 2003, p 91).

CQ has been described to be relatively closely linked to personality constructs such as one of the Big Five construct known as Openness to Experience (Ang et al., 2006). However, CQ also entails capability (Ng & Early, 2006), which implies that CQ is a state-like rather than trait-like construct. Consequently, CQ is trainable, which means that workers can develop CQ, and therefore do not necessarily have to be selected for any inherent amount of CQ that they might possess (Selmeski, 2007). To this point, Ng and Early (2006) contend that workers can develop or enhance their CQ through interventions such as expatriate postings abroad or working in cross-cultural team settings.

CQ is also described as being a predictor of cross-cultural adaptation, rather than constituting a form of cross-cultural adaptation itself (Ng & Early, 2006). Without this characteristic, CQ may well be a tautology, and an example of circular reasoning (Berry & Ward, 2006). As CQ is seen to be an antecedent of cross-cultural adaptation, individuals who exhibit high levels of CQ should adapt quicker and more effectively to new cultural settings (Templer et al, 2006). Furthermore, individuals high in CQ should also predict better cultural judgment, decision-making, well-being, and job performance (Ang et al, 2006). These last points allude to the notion that CQ is a scalar construct in the sense that it reflects a spectrum of capability ranging from high to none. Due to this quality, CQ is a psychometrically measurable construct, which greatly increases both its theoretical as well as practical worth (Early & Ang, 2003; Ang, Van Dyne, Koh, & Ng, 2004).

Despite its promise, CQ also has a number of associated concerns, ranging from its measurement to its basic theoretical underpinnings. In terms of CQ's measurement, the most evident concern in the literature is that CQ is a relatively new construct that still needs rigorous empirical validation (Berry & Ward, 2006). This concern has been addressed by numerous researchers, who have steadily contributed to the understanding of CQ and its measurement. For instance, from the work of Ang et al. (2004), it is clear that current psychometric scales exhibit stable factor structures, solid reliabilities, cross-cultural equivalence, and discriminant validity. Similarly, Templer et al. (2006) have demonstrated that current psychometric CQ measures, particularly measures of motivational CQ, exhibit predictive validity in terms of cross-cultural adjustment.

In terms of its theoretical underpinnings, fairly severe critiques regarding the viability of CQ have been raised by the likes of Berry and Ward (2006). These concerns have been emphatically addressed by Hampden-Turner and Trompenaars (2006) as well as Triandis (2006), who contend that CQ is a highly viable construct. Hampden –Turner and Trompenaars (2006) indicate that CQ stresses a synergy of contrasting values rather than forcing hegemonic Western views onto individuals from other cultural back grounds. They further contend that CQ allows individuals to reconcile opposing values within other cultures as complementary rather than contradictory as well as that CQ lets individuals understand the interplay between dominant and latent values within different cultures. Triandis (2006) has argued that CQ allows individuals to suspend their judgment regarding practices in other cultures until relevant information is gathered to allow for sound decision making.

Currently, CQ is an individual level construct. That is it is a construct that applies to individuals rather than teams or organizations. However, some authors have made inroads into the theoretical realm of what CQ may look like at a collective level such as those of teams or organizations (Janssens & Brett, 2006). According to Janssens and Brett (2006), CQ could well be identified at the team level as a strategic posture assumed by culturally diverse teams to balance creativity and realism to develop practical solutions that can be practically implemented. The theoretical development of CQ is still in its inchoate stages, however it holds great promise for organizations such as DEOMI who may be able to capitalize on such a strategic posture. CQ may furthermore, be particularly useful to DEOMI as it seeks to develop a framework by which individuals could be trained and developed into culturally effective servicemen and women both domestically and abroad. Therefore, it is our recommendation that given our overall mandate of supporting military personnel that we move forward with a more detailed evaluation of this concept in the coming sequence of programmatic efforts. Especially we would note that bringing to DEOMI a number of the leading figures in this area for an intensive Workshop would be an advisable tactic. Given the present limitations on time and space, only this brief synopsis of this overall concept is possible at this present time.

From the present, necessarily limited reading, cultural intelligence is closely associated with allied constructs in individualistic psychology; especially emotional intelligence. As both concepts emphasize facets of human capability such as understanding and empathy with respect to others it is reasonable to expect that there will be a great deal of useful cross-fertilization between these two concepts. In the latter endeavor we have the great advantage of having one of the world leaders in the area of emotional intelligence as a close colleague (Professor Gerald Matthews). Further, one of the central figures in the present study of the psychology of intelligence (Professor Phil Ackerman) is also known directly to us. Together with some central figure in the cultural intelligence area this suggests the foundation of a very fruitful Workshop on this critical concern. While we will continue to pursue further references and integration of current understanding on this work, it is the latter course that we recommend for the most effective line of progress here.

Referenced Literature on Cultural Intelligence

Ackerman, P.L., & Heggestad, E.D. (1997). Intelligence, personality, and interests: Evidence for overlapping traits. *Psychological Bulletin*, *121*, 219-245.

Alon, I., & Higgins, J.M. (2005). Global leadership success through emotional and cultural intelligences. *Business Horizons*, 48(6), 501-512.

Ang, S., van Dyne, L., & Koh, C. (2006). Personality correlates of the four-factor model of cultural intelligence. *Group & Organization Management*, *31*(1), 100-123.

Austin, A. (2006). Review of cultural intelligence: A guide to working with people from other cultures. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *27*(1).

Bailey, J.R. (2004). Navigating the cultural breach. Academy of Management Learning & Education, 3 (1), 99-99.

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ. Prentice-Hall.

Barnum, C.F. (1991). Adding a global perspective to competitive intelligence gathering. *International Executive*, 32(4), 44-46.

Berlyne, D.E. (1960). Conflict, arousal and curiosity. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Berry, J.W., & Ward, C. (2006). Commentary on 'Redefining interactions across cultures and organizations.' *Group & Organization Management*, *31*(1), 64-77.

Bhagat, R.S. (2006). Cultural intelligence: Individual interactions across cultures; working across cultures. *Academy of Management Review*, *31*(2), 489-502.

Birkinshaw, J. (2004). Intelligent advice for those who do business abroad. *Management Today*, 38-38.

Bowers, C.A. (2001). Challenges in educating for ecologically sustainable communities. *Educational Philosophy & Theory*, *33* (2), 257-265.

Brake, T. (2006). Leading global virtual teams. Industrial & Commercial Training, 38 (2/3), 116-121.

Brand, C. (1996). The g factor. Chichester, England: Wiley & Sons.

Brewer, M.B., & Kramer, R.M. (1985). The psychology of intergroup attitudes and behavior. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 36, 219-243.

Brislin, R. (1981). Cross-cultural encounters: Face-to-face interactions. New York: Pergammon.

Brislin, R., Worthley, R., & Macnab, B. (2006). Cultural intelligence: Understanding behaviors that serve people's goals. *Group & Organization Management*, 31 (1), 40-55.

Brown, D.E. (1991). Human universals. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Bucher, R.D. (2008). Building cultural intelligence. Prentice-Hall: Upper Saddle River, N.J.

Cantor, N., & Kihlstrom, J.F. (1985). Social intelligence: The cognitive basis of personality. *Review of Personality and Social Psychology*, 6, 15-33.

Crowne, K.A. (2007). The relationships among social intelligence, emotional intelligence, cultural intelligence and cultural exposure. ProQuest Information & Learning, US.

Cryns, A.G.J. (1962). African intelligence: A critical survey of cross cultural intelligence research in Africa south of the Sahara. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 57(2), 283-301.

Earley, P.C. (2002). Redefining interactions across cultures and organizations: Moving forward with cultural intelligence. US: Elsevier Science/JAI Press.

Earley, P.C. (2002). Redefining interactions across cultures and organizations: Moving forward with cultural intelligence.. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *24*, 271-299.

Earley, P.C., & Ang, S. (2003). Cultural intelligence: Individual interactions across cultures. Stanford University Press.

Earley, P. C., & Mosakowski, E. (2004). Cultural Intelligence. *Harvard Business Review*, 82 (10), 139-146.

Earley, P.C., & Peterson, R.S. (2004). The elusive cultural chameleon: Cultural intelligence as a new approach to intercultural training for the global manager. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 3(1), 100-115.

Earley, P. C., Staw, B. M., & Kramer, R. M. (2002). Redefining interactions across cultures and organizations: Moving forward with cultural intelligence. In *Research in organizational behavior: An annual series of analytical essays and critical reviews.* (pp. 271-299). US: Elsevier Science/JAI Press.

Edidin, P. (2005). How to shake hands or share a meal with an Iraqi. *New York Times, 154* (53145), 7-7.

Gentry, W.A., & Leslie, J.B. (2007). Competencies for leadership development: What's hot and what's not: When assessing leadership-implications for organization development. *Organization Development Journal*, 25 (1), 37-46.

Graf, A. (2004). Screening and training inter-cultural competencies: Evaluating the impact of national culture on inter-cultural competencies. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 15 (6), 1124-1148.

Guthrie, S. (2006). Serving with eyes wide open: Doing short-term missions with cultural intelligence. *Christianity Today*, *50* (12), 64-64.

Hampden-Turner, C., & Trompenaars, F. (2006). Cultural intelligence: Is such a capacity credible? Group & Organization Management, 31 (1), 56-63.

Heckman, L. (2004). Cultural intelligence: People skills for global business. *Library Journal*, 129 (10), 151-151.

Herrmann, E., Call, J., Hernandez-Lloreda, M.A V., Hare, B., & Tomasello, M. (2007). Humans have evolved specialized skills of social cognition: The cultural intelligence hypothesis. *Science*, *317* (5843), 1360-1366.

Holmes, A. (2002). Intelligent about culture. Computer Weekly, 40.

Imai, L., & Gelfand, M. J. (2007). Culturally intelligent negotiators: The impact of CQ on intercultural negotiation effectiveness.. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 1-6.

Janssens, M., & Brett, J.M. (2006). Cultural intelligence in global teams: A fusion model of collaboration. *Group & Organization Management*, *31* (1), 124-153.

Jensen, A.R., & McGurk, F.C. (1987). Black-White bias in 'cultural' and 'noncultural' test items. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 8 (3), 295-301.

Joardar, A. (2006). Group acceptance of foreign newcomer: A liability of foreignness perspective. ProQuest Information & Learning, US.

Johnson, J. P., Lenartowicz, T., & Apud, S. (2006). Cross-cultural competence in international business: toward a definition and a model. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37 (4), 525-543.

Joo-seng, T. (2004). Cultural Intelligence and the Global Economy. *Leadership in Action*, 24 (5), 19-21.

Keiswetter, A. (2007). The Middle East: Teaching Intelligence Issues and Concepts. Conference Papers -- International Studies Association, 1.

Kraft, Q. G. (1992). Toward a critical re-renewal: At the corner of Camus and Bloom streets. *College English*, 54 (1), 46.

Kwanghyun, K. I. M., Kirkman, B. L., & Chen, G. (2006). Cultural intelligence and international assignment effectiveness. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, C1-C6.

Levy-Leboyer, C. (2004). Review of Cultural intelligence: Individual interactions across cultures. *Personnel Psychology*, 57 (3), 792-794.

Lévy-Leboyer, C. (2005). Working across cultures; cultural intelligence: A guide to working with people from other cultures. *Personnel Psychology*, *58* (1), 253-257.

Levy-Leboyer, C. (2007). CQ: Developing cultural intelligence at work. *Personnel Psychology*, 60(1), 242-245.

Lievens, F. (2006). International situational judgment tests. Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

March, R.M. (2005). Cultural intelligence. Harvard Business Review, 83, 140-141.

Mehra, A., & Bhagat, R.S. (2006). Cultural intelligence: Individual interactions across cultures, working across cultures. *Academy of Management Review*, *31*(2), 489-493.

Miller, G.F., Whiten, A., & Byrne, R.W. (1997). Protean primates: The evolution of adaptive unpredictability in competition and courtship. In *Machiavellian intelligence II: Extensions and evaluations*. (pp. 312-340). New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press.

Molinsky, A. (2005). Language fluency and the evaluation of cultural faux pas: Russians interviewing for jobs in the united states. *Social psychology quarterly, 68* (2), 103-120.

Molinsky, A.L., Krabbenhoft, M.A., Ambady, N., & Choi, Y.S. (2005). Cracking the nonverbal code: Intercultural competence and gesture recognition across cultures. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *36* (3), 380-395.

Moore, K. (2005). Cultural intelligence, Harvard Business Review, 83, 140.

Ng, K., & Earley, P.C. (2006). Culture + intelligence: Old constructs, new frontiers. Group & Organization Management, 31 (1), 4-19.

Offermann, L.R., Phan, L.U., Riggio, R.E., Murphy, S.E., & Pirozzolo, F.J. (2002). Culturally intelligent leadership for a diverse world. In *Multiple intelligences and leadership*.

(pp. 187-214). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Osland, J., & Osland, A. (2005). Expatriate paradoxes and cultural involvement. (Spanish). International Studies of Management & Organization, 35 (4), 91-114.

Peterson, B. (2004). Cultural intelligence. Boston: Intercultural Press.

Prado, W. H. (2007). The relationship between cultural intelligence and perceived environmental uncertainty. ProQuest Information & Learning, US.

Prothro, E. T. (1955). An alternative approach in cross-cultural intelligence testing. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 39, 247-251.

Raghuram, S. (2006). Individual effectiveness in outsourcing. Human Systems Management, 25 (2), 127-133.

Ridington, R. (1982). When poison gas come down like a fog: A native community's response to cultural disaster. *Human Organization*, *41* (1),36.

Selmeski, B.R. (2007). *Military cross-cultural competence: Core concepts and individual development*. Royal Military College of Canada Centre for Security, Armed Forces & Society Occasional Paper Series – Number 1.

Smith, P.B., Bond, M.H., & Kagitçibasi, Ç. (2006). Understanding social psychology across cultures: Living and working in a changing world. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.

Stalinski, S. (2004). Organizational intelligence: A systems perspective. *Organization Development Journal*, 22 (2), 55-67.

Sternberg, R.J., & Grigorenko, E.L. (2006). Cultural Intelligence and Successful Intelligence. *Group & Organization Management*, 31 (1), 27-39.

Stoler, A.L., & Bond, D. (2006). Refractions of empire: Untimely comparisons in harsh times. *Radical History Review*, 95, 93-107.

Swaminathan, N. (2007). No monkeying around. Scientific American, 297(5), 36-36.

Templer, K.J., Tay, C., & Chandrasekar, N.A. (2006). Motivational cultural intelligence, realistic job preview, realistic living conditions preview, and cross-cultural adjustment. *Group & Organization Management*, *31* (1), 154-173.

Thomas, D.C. (2006). Domain and development of cultural intelligence: The importance of mindfulness. *Group & Organization Management, 31 (1)*, 78-99.

Thomas, D.C., & Inkson, K. (2005). Cultural Intelligence. Consulting to Management, 1 6(1), 5-9.

Trevarthen, C. B. (1990). Growth and education of the hemispheres. In *Brain circuits and functions of the mind: Essays in honor of Roger W. Sperry*. (pp. 334-363). New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press.

Trevarthen, C., Nadel, J., & Muir, D. (2005). Action and emotion in development of cultural intelligence: why infants have feelings like ours. In *Emotional development: Recent research advances.* (pp. 61-91). New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.

Triandis, H. C. (2006). Cultural intelligence in organizations. Group & Organization Management, 31 (1), 20-26.

11. Cultural Frameworks

Over the last five decades a number of differing conceptual, cultural frameworks have emerged. The purpose of these frameworks has been to describe the constellation of culturally based values that exist around the world. Arguably, the most well known of these frameworks are those of Geert Hofstede and Shalom Schwartz, however, a number of other researchers such as the Global Leadership and Organizational Behavior Effectiveness team (Robert House, Paul Hanges, Marcus Dickson, Mansour Javidan, and others) have also provided their perspective in regards to cultural frameworks. The approaches of these two groupings of researchers are similar in many respects, but also they have their own particular unique peculiarities. To illustrate this, we here provide a brief discussion of the two most respected cultural value frameworks (i.e. those of Schwartz and Hofstede).

Schwartz and Hofstede have methodological and theoretical approaches to studying values that are similar in some respects, but vastly different in others. The first point of comparison is the definitions that these researchers use to define values. Hofstede defines values in two ways, namely the values as the desired and values as the desirable. The first definition defines values as what people actually desire, whereas the second defines values in terms of what people feel they ought to value. Schwartz (1999), however, defines values as "conceptions of the desirable that guide the way social leaders...select actions and explain their actions and evaluations" (p. 24-25). Schwartz also states that values transcend situations or goals and can be ordered in terms of their importance as guiding principles in life. These definitions are somewhat similar and overlapping, however are also different in that Hofstede contends that

there are two types of values and that Schwartz contends that values can be ordered in terms of importance as guides to living.

An additional difference lies in the theoretical approaches that these researchers used to generate their models of values across cultures. Hofstede utilized an empirical approach by which he factor analyzed the results of more than 116,000 completed questionnaires completed by IBM employees in over fifty different countries. He proceeded to aggregate the results of the surveys as averages at the nation level and conducted ecological factor analyses to derive his 4, and subsequently 5 factor structure of values across nations. These five factors are power distance, individualism/collectivism, masculinity/femininity, uncertainty avoidance and long term orientation (Hofstede, 2001). Hofstede's approach is a bottom up one in which the data was the main driver of the subsequent theory. Conversely, Schwartz's approach is different in that he utilized a top-down perspective to develop his theory. This means that he initially utilized theory to develop a framework of values across nations which he subsequently assessed using empirical data and some novel statistical procedures such as smallest space analyses. Schwartz argued that it is possible to postulate a structure of values a priori due to his view that values reflect the basic problems that all humans have to solve in order to regulate human activity. Using this perspective he developed a seven value structure at the cultural level and a ten level value structure at the individual level. The use of individual and culture level models sets his work apart from Hofstede, who only assessed values at the cultural level. Schwartz's culture level values, however, are similar to those of Hofstede in that they are merely aggregations of individual level data at the scale of national measurement. Ultimately, both of these researchers use their value measurements to arrange cultures according to the aggregate scores that they have obtained in terms of their level on any of the given values assessed.

Both researchers' work is criticized in terms of their sampling methodologies. Hofstede utilized a convenience sample of IBM employees, whereas Schwartz generally asks teachers to complete his measures. Both of these methodologies are inherently problematic in the sense that it is difficult to generalize the results obtained from the samples used to other samples, even within particular countries. An additional criticism levied against Hofstede is that his work is driven purely by statistics rather than theory. Scwhartz has gotten around this latter criticism by claiming that his work was initially theory driven rather than being a post hoc attempt to develop a theory that fit the data that were obtained. Hofstede is also criticized for the poor quality of the items that he used. The items in the original IBM survey were lacking in face validity. Conversely, Schwartz's items appear to have greater face validity and have thus received less criticism in this regard. The criticisms of these researchers' work have not prevented from other studies following in their footsteps. For instance, Hofstede's approach to conceptualize culture was utilized in, perhaps, one of the most ambitious cross-cultural research endeavors, the Global Leadership and Organizational Behavior Effectiveness research project, or Project GLOBE (House, Hanges, Javidan, Dorfman, & Gupta, 2004)

Project GLOBE was born out of an increased understanding of the important influences that culture has on organizational and leadership processes. The project was designed with a minimum of three interrelated empirical studies in mind. Each of these studies represents a distinct phase in the completion of Project GLOBE (House et al., 2004). In the first of the three stages, a nine-attribute framework was created to conceptualize the differences between societal cultures. This framework was used to assess culture and ascribe cultural dimensions to the examined societies in the subsequent phases of the study (House, Javidan, Hanges, & Dorfman,

2002). The second stage of Project GLOBE focused on the assessment of the nine core attributes of societal and organizational cultures. During this phase sixty-two cultures were ranked according to the Project GLOBE societal dimensions. Additionally, specific hypotheses were tested in regards to "the interacting effect of societal cultural dimensions and industry ... on organizational practices and culturally endorsed implicit theories of leadership" (House et al., 2002). The third phase of Project GLOBE is currently being completed and focuses on "the impact and effectiveness of specific leader behaviors and styles of CEOs on subordinates' attitudes and performance" (House et al, 2002). Additionally, this phase will also assess the moderating effects of culture on relationships between organizational practices and organizational effectiveness (House et al, 2002).

The development of Project GLOBE's cultural dimensions was theory-driven, rather than an empirical process (Hanges & Dickson, 2006), meaning that the constructs to be measured by the scale were chosen before the scale was developed. Statistical analyses, including confirmatory factor analysis, reliability, and generalizability analyses, were conducted in order to confirm the a-priori structure of the scale (Hanges & Dickson, 2006). Scales developed in this manner generally are face valid and have desirable psychometric properties. At the beginning of the first phase of the project, some cultural dimensions were identified that may dictate which type of leadership is most effective in a society. It is not surprising that these initial dimensions were those that Hofstede developed in his seminal works regarding the dimensionality of culture. Isomorphic items that would reflect these cultural dimensions were subsequently written in terms of culture "As Is" and culture 'Should Be'. "As Is" items were designed to reflect cultural practices, or in other words, the behaviors that are commonly enacted within a society, as perceived by individuals. This approach to measuring culture stems from the behavioral branch of psychology which contends that shared values are enacted in

behaviors, policies, and practices (House et al., 2002). In contrast to the "*As Is*" items, the "*Should Be*" items reflect the culturally determined values held by a society (House et al., 2002). This approach of measuring culture draws from the psychological anthropological tradition of culture assessment (Kluckhohn & Strodtbeck, 1961; House, Hanges, Ruiz-Quintanilla, Dorfman, Javidan, & Dickson, 2001).

Over and above these two item types, items were also written to reflect manifestations of cultural values as they are expressed on a societal as well as an organizational level. Therefore the four different types of items were generated and placed into two parallel sets. The first of which assessed societal culture on the "*As Is*" as well as the "*Should Be*" levels, and the second which assessed organizational culture on these two levels as well. The net result of the item development process was a descriptive cultural framework that draws heavily upon Hofstede's cultural dimensions. The final GLOBE framework of culture therefore included items reflecting the following cultural dimensions: *uncertainty avoidance*, *future orientation*, *family collectivism*, *gender egalitarianism*, and *assertiveness* (House et al, 2002).

The GLOBE framework has not gone without its fair share of criticism from cross-cultural researchers. The concerns that have been voiced up to date range from issues pertaining to the construction of GLOBE scales, to the deeper meta-theoretical assumptions on which GLOBE's cultural scales were based. Peterson and Castro (2006) critiqued GLOBE in terms of its approach to measuring culture at different levels. According to these researchers, the GLOBE scales are fundamentally individual level scales from which average scores were calculated to derive cultural means. The levels of analysis concern is based on the perception shared by many cultural researchers that constructs can differ

fundamentally when interpreted at different levels. From this level of analysis perspective, Peterson and Castro (2006) asked whether GLOBE is fundamentally based in what Hofstede (2001) called *ecologic*, or *psychologic* (i.e. whether GLOBE's research design is more appropriate for making comparisons between individuals or societies). As a separate point, Peterson and Castro also pointed out that the procedures that were utilized to formulate the GLOBE culture instruments were never adequately shared with other researchers.

Smith (2006) criticized GLOBE from a different perspective. His argument is based on the notion that the "Should Be" scale, which was touted to be an indicator of cultural values, differs significantly from other values instruments that have been used with great success. His first point of contention is that the "Should Be" scale asks respondents to indicate how they think other members of their society think people should act in Therefore, this is not a direct assessment of different instances. respondents' personal values, but rather what they think others within their societies think values should be. This is a highly convoluted argument, and therefore is worthy of criticism. Smith also points out that the GLOBE "Should Be" scale lacks face validity. He states that this scale looks completely different from other values instruments such as the Schwartz values Instrument (SVS) published by Schwarz (1994). Furthermore, he also criticizes the functioning of the "Should Be" scale. From his perspective it places countries in strange configurations in terms of values when considering prior cross-national assessments of values. A last bit of criticism came from Hofstede himself. Hofstede (2006) obtained the scale means for both the "As is" and "Should Be" scales and conducted a factor analysis of this data. He concluded that the 9-factor factor structure utilized by GLOBE is too complex, and that from his empirical investigation, the number of factors should be reduced to only five.

In sum, cultural frameworks have received a lot of attention over the years, which is a trend that is only set to continue. These frameworks will continue to have their supporters and their detractors. Ultimately each of these frameworks is an approximation of value constellations around the world. Inherently, these frameworks are limited in their descriptive capacity but are likely to be the predominant approach in cross-cultural values research for quite some time to come. This is evident when considering that Hofstede's work has guided the field of cross-cultural research as whole for more than twenty years, even though he has had its detractors (i.e. Fiske, 2002; Bond, 2002). The legacy of GLOBE may be similar. GLOBE has the potential to guide research in both cross-cultural psychology as well for quite some time even though it has its detractors as well.

Cited Literature on Cultural Frameworks

Ashkanasy, N.M., Trevor-Roberts, E. & Earnshawl, L. (2002). The Anglo cluster: Legacy of the British Empire. *Journal of World Business*, 37, 28-39.

Bond, M.H. (2002). Reclaiming the individual from Hofstede's ecological analysis--A 20year odyssey: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002). *Psychological Bulletin*, *128* (1), 73-77.

Earley, P.C., & Randel, A.E. (1997). Culture without borders: An individual level approach to cross-cultural research in organizational behavior. In: C.L. Cooper and S. Jackson (Eds.), *Creating tomorrow's organizations*. (pp. 59-73.) New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Early, P.C. (2006). Leading cultural research in the future: A matter of paradigms and taste. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37, 922-931.

Fiske, A.P. (2002). Using individualism and collectivism to compare cultures--A critique of the validity and measurement of the constructs: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002). *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(1), 78-88.

Fiske, A.P., Kitayama, S., Markus, H.R., & Nisbett, R.E. (1998). The cultural matrix of social psychology. In D.T. Gilbert, S.T. Fiske, and Lindzey (Eds.), *The handbook of social psychology* (4th Edition., pp. 915-981). New York: Oxford University Press.

Gelfand, M J., Nishii, L.H., & Raver, J.L. (2006). On the nature and importance of cultural tightness-looseness. *Journal of Applied* Psychology, *91* (6), 1225-1244.

Hanges, P.J., & Dickson, M.W. (2006). Agitation over aggregation: Clarifying the development and the nature of the GLOBE scales. *Leadership Quarterly*, *17*, 522-536.

Heine, S.J., Lehman, D.R., Peng, K.P. & Greenholtz, J. (2002). What's wrong with cross-cultural comparisons of subjective Likert scales? The reference group effect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *82*, 903-918.

Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's consequences: International differences in work related values. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

Hofstede, G. (1990). Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind. London: McGraw-Hill.

Hofstede, G. (2001). Cultures consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions and organizations across nations (2nd Ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Hofstede, G.H. (2001). What did GLOBE really measure? Researcher's Minds versus respondents' minds. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37, 882-896.

House, R.J., Hanges, P.J., Javidan, M., Dorfman, P.W., & Gupta, V. (Eds.), *Culture, leadership and organizations: The GLOBE study of 62 societies.* Thousand Oaks, Ca: Sage.

House, R.J., Hanges, P.J., Ruiz-Quintanilla, S.A., Dorfman, P.W., Javidan, M., & Dickson, M., et al. (2001) Cultural influences on leadership and organizations. Advances in Global Leadership, 1.

House, R., Javidan, M., Hanges, P., & Dorfman, P. (2002). Understaning cultures and implicit leadership theories across the globe: an introduction to project GLOBE. *Journal of World Business*, 37, 3 -10.
Inglehart, R. (1997). Modernization and post-modernization: Culture, economic and political change in 43 nations. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Javidan M., & House, R.J. (2002). Leadership and cultures around the world: findings from GLOBE – An introduction to the special issue. *Journal of World Business*, 37, 1-2.

Javidan, M., House, R.J., Dorfman, P., Hanges, P., Sully de Luque, M. (in press). Conceptualizing cultures and their consequences: A comparative review of GLOBE's and Hofstede's approaches. Journal of international Business Studies.

Kitayama, S. (2002). Culture and basic psychological processes--toward a system view of culture: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002). *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(1), 89-96.

Kitayama, S., Markus, H.R., Matsumoto, H., & Narasakkunkit, V. (1997). Individual and Collective Processes in the Construction of the Self: Self-Enhancement in the United States and Self-Criticism in Japan. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72, 1245-1267.

Kluckhohn, F.R., & Strodtbeck, F.L. (1961). Variations in value orientations. NY: HarperCollins.

Krueger, J., & Clement, R. W. (1994). The truly false consensus effect; An ineradicable and egocentric bias in social perception. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(4), 596-610.

Marks, G, & Miller, N. (1987). Ten years of research on the false-consensus effect: An empirical and theoretical review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *102*(1), 72-90.

Miller, J.G. (2002). Bringing culture to basic psychological theory--beyond individualism and collectivism: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002). *Psychological Bulletin, 128* (1), 97-109.

Oyserman, D., Coon, H.M., & Kemmelmeimer, M. (2002). Rethinking the individualism and collectivism: Evaluation of theoretical assumptions and meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*, 3-72

Oyserman, D., Kemmelmeier, M., & Coon, H.M. (2002). Cultural psychology, a new look: Reply to Bond (2002), Fiske (2002), Kitayama (2002), and Miller (2002). *Psychological Bulletin*, *128* (1), 110-117.

Peterson, M.F., & Castro, S.L. (2006). Measurement metrics at aggregate levels of analysis : Implications for organizational culture research and the GLOBE project. *Leadership Quarterly*, 17, 506-521.

Rokeach, M. (1973). The nature of human values. New York: Free Press.

Ross, L., Greene, D., & House, P. (1977). The "false consensus effect": An egocentric bias in social perception and attribution processes. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *13*, 279-301.

Schwartz, S.H. (1994). Are there universals in the content and structure of values? *Journal of Social Issues*, 50, 19–45.

Schwartz, S.H. (1999). A theory of cultural values and some implications for work. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 48, 23-27.

Smith, P.B. (2006). When elephants fight, the grass gets trampled: The GLOBE and Hofstede projects. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37, 915-921.

Smith, P.B., & Schwartz, S.H. (1997. Values. In: J. W. Berry, M. H. Segall, and C. Kagitcibasi (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology*. (2nd ed., Volume 3) Social Behavior and Applications. Needham Heights, MA: Allyhn & Bacon.

Tayeb, M. (1988). Organizations and national culture. London: Sage.

Triandis, H.C. (1995). Cross-cultural industrial and organizational psychology. In H.C. Triandis, (Ed.). *Individualism and collectivism*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Triandis, M.D. Dunnette, & L.M. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of inductrial and organizational psychology* (2nd ed., Vol. 4, (pp. 103–172). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Trompenaars, A. (1994). Riding the waves of culture: Understanding diversity in global business. Irwin Professional Pub: Burr Ridge, Ill.

Trompenaars, A., & Woolliams, P. (2003). Business across cultures. Capstone: Chichester.

Trompenaars, A., & Hampden-Turner, C. (2004). Managing people across cultures. Capstone: Oxford.

Trompenaars, A., & Hampden-Turner, C. (1998). Over de grenzen van cultuur en management. Contact : Amsterdam

Trompenaars, A. (1993). Zakendoen over de grens: leren omgaan met andere culturen. Contact: Amsterdam.

Van de Fijver, F., & Leung, K. (1997). *Methods and data analysis for cross-cultural research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

12. General and Cross-Cultural References

The following represent a series of general readings which, on occasion, overlap with the specific areas of evaluation given above in the present review. However, they represent readings that are the basis of larger considerations of the whole concern for cultural readiness and are provided for general referential purposes. They also include multiple references on cross-cultural psychology which we take to be a specific pursuit of the coming elements of the program in which we have recommended more detailed evaluation of specific, pair-wise cross comparison between the existing major cultures of the world. As the present document is a living, evolving, and growing one, this section is presented so that those articles and issues which do not fall into the present discrete categories can be captured and thus used in more purpose-specific developments of the present review.

General and Cross-Cultural Referenced Materials

Adler, N., Boyce, T., Chesney, M., Cohen, S., et. al. (1994). Socioeconomic status and health: The challenge of the gradient. *American Psychologist*, *49*, 15-24.

Allen, M., Ng, S., Ikeda, K., Jawan, J., et al. (2007). Two decades of change in cultural values and economic development in eight east Asian and Pacific island nations. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 247.

Bond, M. (2002). Reclaiming the individual from Hofstede's ecological analysis- a 20year odyssey: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002). *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*, 73-77.

Bush, V. (1945). As we may thank. Atlantic Monthly, July.

Cohen, A. (2007). An examination of the relationship between commitments and culture among five cultural groups of Israeli teachers. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 34.

Cronbach, L.J. (1957). The two disciplines of scientific psychology. American Psychologist, 12, 671-684.

De Groot, J. & Steg, L. (2007). Value orientations and environmental beliefs in five countries: Validity of an instrument to measure egoistic, altruistic and biospheric value orientations. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 318.

Fischer, R., Smith, P., Richey, B., Ferreira, M., et al. (2007). How do organizations allocate rewards? The predictive validity of national values, economic and organizational factors across six nations. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 3.

Fiske, A. (2002). Using individualism and collectivism to compare cultures- a critique of the validity and measurement of the constructs: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002). *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*, 78-88.

Fowers, B. & Richardson, F. (1996). Why is multiculturalism good? *American Psychologist*, 51, 609-621.

Frenzel, A., Thrash, T., Pekrun, R. & Goetz, T. (2007). Achievement emotions in Germany and China: A cross-cultural validation of the academic emotions questionnaire – mathematics. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 302.

Gelfand, M., Erez, M. & Aycan, Z. (2007). Cross-cultural organizational behavior. *The Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 479-514.

Georgas, J., van de Vijver, F. & Berry, J. (2004). The ecocultural framework, ecosocial indices, and psychological variables in cross-cultural research. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Pschology*, 35, 74.

Goldstein, S. (2000). Cross-cultural explorations. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

Gong, Y. & Chang, S. (2007). The relationships of cross-cultural adjustment with dispositional learning orientation and goal setting: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 19.

Hall, E.T. (1976). Beyond culture. New York: Doubleday.

Hancock, P.A. (1997). Essays on the future of human-machine systems. Banta: Eden Prairie, MN.

Hancock, P.A. (1999). *Custer and the Titanic*. Arnold Small Lecture of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, Houston, TX. (Also at: www.mit.ucf.edu).

Hancock, P.A. (2003). To see ourselves. Global Linkages, 6 (8), 5.

Hancock, P.A. (2005). Time and the privileged observer. Kronoscope, 5 (2), 176-191.

Harris, P.R. (1986). The influence of culture on space development. *Behavioral Science*, 31 (1), 12-28.

Harris, P.R., & Moran, R.T. (1986). Managing cultural differences. Gulf Publishing: Houston, TX.

Heine, S., Lehman, D. & Peng, K. (2002). What's wrong with cross-cultural comparisons of subjective Likert scales?: The reference-group effect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *82*, 903-918.

Hershey, D., Henkens, K. & Van Dalen, H. (2007). Mapping the minds of retirement planners: A cross-cultural perspective. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 361.

Herskovits, M.J. (1948). Man and his works. New York: Knopf.

Ho-Ying Fu, J., Chiu, C., Morris, M. & Young, M. (2007). Spontaneous inferences from cultural cues: Varying responses of cultural insiders and outsiders. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 58.

Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's consequences. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

Hofstede, G. (1983). Dimensions of national cultures in fifty countries and three regions. In: J. Deregowski, S. Dzuirawiec, and R. Annis, (Eds.). *Explications in cross cultural psychology*. Lisse, The Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger.

Horenczyk, G. & Munayer, S. (2007). Acculturation orientations toward two majority groups: The case of Palestinian Arab Christian adolescents in Israel. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 76.

Inglehart, R. & Baker, W. (2000). Modernization, cultural change, and the persistence of traditional values. *American Sociological Review*, 65, 19.

Janssens, M. (2006). Cultural intelligence in global teams: A fusion model of collaboration. *Group and Organization Management*, *31* (1), 124-153.

Johnson, J. (2007). Beliefs about the emotions of self and others among Asian American and non-Asian American students: Basic similarities and the mediation of differences. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 270.

Kaushal, R., & Kwantes, C.T. (2006). The role of culture and personality in the choice of conflict management strategy. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *30* (5), 579-603.

Lamm, B. & Keller, H. (2007). Understanding cultural models of parenting: The role of intracultural variation and response style. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 50.

Mann, L. (1985). Cross-cultural difference in children's use of decision rules: A comparison Japan and Australia. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 49 (6), 1557-1564.

Marsh, A., Elfenbein, H. & Ambady, N. (2007). Separated by a common language: Nonverbal accents and cultural stereotypes about Americans and Australians. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 284.

Maslow, A.H. (1954). *Motivation and personality*. Harper & Row: New York (Revised 1987, R. Frager).

McCrae, R. & Terracciano, A. (2005). Personality profiles of cultures: Aggregate personality traits. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *89*, 407-425.

Merlo, J., Szalma, M., & Hancock, P.A. (2007). Stress and performance: Some Experiences from Iraq. In: P.A. Hancock and J.L. Szalma (Eds.). *Performance under stress*. Ashgate: Aldershot, England in press.

Miller, J.G. (1978). Living systems. McGraw-Hill: New York.

Motomura, M.S. (2007). The diverse identities of biracial persons: Antecedent factors, well-being and multicultural effectiveness. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 67 (7-B), 4160.

Nisbett, R., Choi, I., Peng, K. & Norenzayan, A. (2001). Culture and systems of thought: Holistic versus analytic cognition. *Psychological Review*, *108*, 291 – 310.

Phinney, J. (1996). When we talk about American ethnic groups, what do we mean? *American Psychologist*, 51, 918-927.

Russell, B. (1961). Has man a future? George Allen & Unwin: London.

Schwartz, S. (1992). Universals in the content and structure of values: Theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. In M. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 25, pp. 1-65). New York: Academic.

Schwartz, S. H. (1994). Mapping and interpreting cultural differences around the world. In H. Vinken, J. Soeters, and P. Ester (Eds.), *Comparing cultures: Dimensions of culture in a comparative perspectives* (pp. 43-73). Leiden, NL: Brill.

Schwartz, S.H. (1994). Beyond Individualism–Collectivism: New cultural dimensions of values. In U. Kim, H.C. Triandis, C. Kagitcibasi, S-C. Choi, and G. Yoon (Eds.), *Individualism and collectivism: Theory, method and applications* (pp.85–119). London: Sage.

Schwartz, S. (1999). A theory of cultural values and some implications for work. *Applied Psychology: An International Review, 48*, 23-47.

Schmitt, D., Allik, J., McCrae, R., & Benet-Martinez, V. (2007). The geographic distribution of big five personality traits: Patterns and profiles of human self-description across 56 nations. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 173.

Shannon, C.E., & Weaver. W. (1949). *The mathematical theory of communication*. University of Illinois Press: Urbana. IL.

Smith, K., Smith, S. & Christopher, J. (2007). What defines a good person? Cross-cultural comparisons of experts' models with lay prototypes. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 333.

Stevens, G., Vollebergh, W., Pels, T. & Crijnen, A. (2007). Problem behavior and acculturation in Moroccan immigrant adolescents in the Netherlands: Effects of gender and parent-child conflict. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 310.

Thompson, E. (2007). Development and validation of an internationally reliable short-form of the positive and negative affect schedule (PANAS). *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 227.

Triandis, H.C., Vassiliou, V., Vassiliou, G., Tanaka, Y., & Shanmugam, A.V. (1972). *The analysis of subjective culture*. New York: Wiley.

Tulviste, T. & Antonen, M. (2007). Child-rearing values of Estonian and Finnish mothers and fathers. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 137.

Utsey, S., Bolden, M., Williams, III, O., Lee, A., et al. (2007). Spiritual well-being as a mediator of the relation between culture-specific coping and quality of life in a community sample of African Americans. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 123.

Van de Vliert, E. (2007). Climatoeconomic roots of survival versus self-expression cultures. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 156.

Van Der Zee, K., & Van Der Gang, I. (2007). Personality, threat and affective response to cultural diversity. *European Journal of Personality*, 21 (4), 453-470.

Varela, R., Steele, R. & Benson, E. (2007). The contribution of ethnic minority status to adaptive style: A comparison of Mexican, Mexican American, and European American children. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 26.

Wan, C., Chiu, C., Peng, S. & Tam, K. (2007). Measuring cultures through intersubjective cultural norms: Implications for predicting relative identification with two or more cultures. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *38*, 213.

Wang, Q. (2000). Culture, self, and emotion: An integrative perspective on the development of autobiographical memory. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 61 (5-B), 2800.

Westen, D. (1996). Psychology: Mind, brain and culture. Wiley: New York.

Review of Literature

Zebian, S., Alamuddin, R., Maalouf, M. & Chatila, Y. (2007). Developing an appropriate psychology through culturally sensitive research practices in the Arabic-speaking world: A content analysis of psychological research published between 1950 and 2004. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38, 91.

13. Recommendations for Future Research

The following represent a series of recommendations which are derived from the observations that we have made during the development of the present review of literature and our overall discussions of the ongoing program.

- It is evident from the present report that we have only just begun to comprehend the vast literature involved with this overall issue. Therefore, we recommend that subsequent, follow-on efforts, we continue to focus on the issue of information assimilation and knowledge integration that can be derived from continuing search of these emerging literatures.
- Given the foregoing recommendation, we further advise that we begin to undertake formal meta-analyses in the respective areas of cultural influences identified so far. These quantitative summaries will be essential foundations for the creation and refinement of data-based concept maps, and where insufficient empirical work is forthcoming it will show the requisite areas of further experimental evaluation.
- We recommend that the program begin a specific element on the issue of cultural maturation. That is, we recommend that we specifically evaluate how cultural assumptions are adopted by the growing child. Similarly, we recommend that we also evaluate the historical growth, development, and eventual dissipation of cultures as a specific project.
- With the diversity of challenges in understanding culture, we suggest that the DEOMI program establish a series of annual Workshops in which a small number of leading researchers are invited to present

their own particular research efforts in detail. We further suggest that a series of texts as forms of publishable resources could be generated from these Workshops.

- One area of vital importance which has yet to be addressed in our overall program is the issue of deception. Although considered a relatively straightforward concept within our own culture, it is treated in extremely different ways around the world. Deception is even socially sanctioned as approved behaviors in respect of outsiders by a number of cultures. We suggest that this will be a [particularly pivotal issue for deployed troops and we thus recommend an extensive evaluation on such cultural differences in coming parts of the overall program.
- Finally, we have yet to establish whether there are basic cultural differences in the approach to threat. While the present, brief section on risk and risk-taking relates to this issue, we further recommend that this specific evaluation should occur.
